
AGENDA 
MAPLEWOOD CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 13, 2024 @ 7:00 P.M. 

 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 (7601 MANCHESTER ROAD) 

 OR  
VIA TELECONFERENCE 

 (WWW.CITYOFMAPLEWOOD.COM FOR DETAILS) 
 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Land Acknowledgement 
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

4. Roll Call 
 

5. Motion to Excuse Councilpersons 
 

6. Approval of the Council Agenda 
 

7. Public hearing to hear citizen comments regarding the estimated reallocation of $64,000 in 
Community Development Block Grant funds for fund year 2022 
 

8. Public hearing to hear citizen comments regarding a request by Revel Kitchen for a 
conditional use permit to operate a restaurant with drive thru at 7520 Manchester Road 

 
9. Public hearing to hear citizen comments regarding a request by VR Wholesale International 

Car Sale & Repair for a conditional use permit to continue the existing used car sales and 
auto repair operations at 2800 S. Big Bend Blvd and 7480 Hazel Avenue 

 
10. Public Forum 

 
11. Announcements 

 
12. Approval of the January 9, 2024 City Council meeting minutes and closed session minutes 

 
13. A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Maplewood, Missouri, authorizing the City 

Manager to submit a request for the reallocation of Block Grant Funds to the St. Louis 
County Office of Community Development 

 
14. A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Maplewood, Missouri, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute an Intergovernmental Agreement on behalf of the city of Maplewood, 

http://www.cityofmaplewood/


Missouri, with the Cities of Brentwood, Clayton, and Richmond Heights for purpose of 
joining the Central Core Fire Training Center Commission 

 
15. A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Maplewood, Missouri, appointing Amber 

Withycombe as the city representative to the Sunnen Station Community Improvement 
District as Director replacing Michael Reese with a term expiring September 26, 2024, along 
with an additional four-year term expiring September 26, 2028;  and appointing Susan Brasel 
as Director replacing Robert Ludwig with a term expiring September 26, 2024, along with an 
additional four-year term expiring September 28, 2028; and appointing Kurt Kallaus as 
Director replacing Chris Miltenberger with a term expiring September 26, 2026;  and also 
appointing Richard Kallaus to an additional term expiring September 26, 2028 
 

16. An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Maplewood, Missouri, amending Chapter 2, 
Article VII. – Boards, Commissions and Authorities to add a new Division 4. – Code of 
Ethics, for the purpose of establishing a Code of Ethics for appointed members of the Boards 
and Commissions created by the Code of Ordinances   
 

17. An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Maplewood, Missouri, authorizing the City 
Manager to execute an STP-Urban Program Agreement between the Missouri Highways and 
Transportation Commission and the City of Maplewood for Project Number STP/CMAQ-
9901 (667) for Greenwood Boulevard 

 
18. An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Maplewood, Missouri, granting a 

Conditional Use Permit to Simon Lusky of Revel Kitchen to operate a restaurant with drive 
through at 7520 Manchester Road 

 
19. An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Maplewood, Missouri, granting a 

Conditional Use Permit to Volodymyr Ratai of VR Wholesale International LLC to operate 
an auto sales and repair facility at 2800-2804 S. Big Bend Boulevard and 7480 Hazel Avenue 

 
20. Old Business 

 
21. Council Communication 

 
22. Mayor’s Report 

 
23. City Attorney’s Report 

 
24. City Manager’s Report  

 
25. Public Forum 

 
26. Motion to hold a Closed Session, if needed, to discuss matters relating to litigation, legal 

actions and/or communication from the City Attorney as provided for in Section 
610.021(1)RSMO. and/or specifications for competitive bidding under Section 610.021(11) 



and/or sealed bids and related documents and sealed proposals and related documents under 
Section 610.021(11) and/or personnel matters under Section 610.021(13)RSMO. and/or 
employee matters under Section 610.021(3)RSMO. and/or real estate matters under Section 
610.021(2)RSMO. and/or documents related to a negotiated contract under Section 
610.021(12)RSMO    
 

27. Adjournment  
 
 
 



 
RESCHEDULED NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Publication Date 1/24/24 

 
 

The City of Maplewood will hold a public hearing to discuss the estimated reallocation of $64,000 in Community 
Development Block Grant funds for fund year 2022.  The public hearing will be held at 7:00 p.m. on February 
13, 2024, at Maplewood City Hall.   
 
To further its commitment to fair and equitable treatment of all citizens, the City of Maplewood has enacted 
and/or enforces the following: 

 
A Fair Housing Ordinance prohibiting unlawful discrimination against any person because of race, sex, 
color, religion, disability, familial status or national origin; 
 
A Policy of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in the admission or access to, or employment 
in, its federally assisted programs or activities; 
 
A Policy of Equal Opportunity to Participate in Municipal Programs and Services regardless of race, 
color, religion, sex, age, disability, familial status, national origin, or political affiliation;  

 
A requirement for bidding on CDBG activities that promotes employment opportunities created by HUD 
funding and that these opportunities be afforded low-income community residents and businesses. 

 
If you would like information regarding the above policies or if you believe you have been unlawfully 
discriminated against, contact the following municipal official or employee who has been designated to coordinate 
compliance with the equal employment opportunity requirements referenced above.  Additionally, if you are 
unable to attend the public hearing, you may provide written comments regarding the Community Development 
Block Grant Program to the following municipal official:   
 

Amber Withycombe, City Manager 
NAME/TITLE 

 
7601 Manchester Road 
STREET ADDRESS 

 
Maplewood, MO 63143 

CITY, STATE, ZIP 
 

314-645-3600 
PHONE 

 
If you are a person with a disability or have special needs in order to participate in this public hearing, please 
contact Tiffany Hyde at 314-646-3640 no later than February 8, 2024. 
 

For More Information Call: 
 314-645-3600 VOICE 

1-800-735-2466 RELAY MISSOURI VOICE 
1-800-735-2966 RELAY MISSOURI TDD 

Equal Opportunity Employer 
 
(As posted at City Hall, the Maplewood Public Library, Deer Creek Park, Ryan Hummert Memorial Park, Sutton Loop Park, Kellogg 

Park, Yale bus stop pavilion and Citizen’s Park on January 24, 2024) 



 
 
 

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE   
 
The Maplewood City Council will hold a public hearing on 2/13/24 at 7:00 p.m. in 
the Council Chambers, 7601 Manchester, Maplewood, MO 63143 and via Zoom 
teleconference (details at www.cityofmaplewood.com) to hear citizen’s comments on 
a request by Revel Kitchen for a conditional use permit to operate a restaurant with 
drive thru at 7520 Manchester Road (former Jack-n-the Box restaurant).     
 
The Maplewood Plan & Zoning Commission will meet on 2/5/24 at 6:00 p.m. in the  
City Council Chambers, at 7601 Manchester Road regarding the same matter.  The 
Maplewood Plan & Zoning Commission will vote on a recommendation to the City 
Council at this meeting.   
 
Please contact Zoning Administrator Anthony Traxler with any specific questions 
relating to this matter at a-traxler@cityofmaplewood.com or 314-646-3635.  
 
Residents of Maplewood are afforded an equal opportunity to comment regardless of 
race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, familial status, national origin or political 
affiliation.  The City of Maplewood is working to comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA).  Reasonable accommodations will be provided when 
required.  To request an accommodation, please call City Hall, 645-3600 or use Relay 
Missouri at 1-800-736-2966 at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting and 
communicate your needs. 
 

http://www.cityofmaplewood.com/
mailto:a-traxler@cityofmaplewood.com


 
 
 

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE   
 
The Maplewood City Council will hold a public hearing on 2/13/24 at 7:00 p.m. in 
the Council Chambers, 7601 Manchester, Maplewood, MO 63143 and via Zoom 
teleconference (details at www.cityofmaplewood.com) to hear citizen’s comments on 
a request by VR Wholesale International Car Sale & Repair for a conditional use 
permit to continue the existing used car sales and auto repair operations at 2800 S. Big 
Bend Blvd and 7480 Hazel Avenue (see attached map).  The prior owner is selling 
the properties and a new conditional use permit is required for the new owner to 
continue business operations.   
 
The Maplewood Plan & Zoning Commission will meet on 2/5/24 at 6:00 p.m. in the  
City Council Chambers, at 7601 Manchester Road regarding the same matter.  The 
Maplewood Plan & Zoning Commission will vote on a recommendation to the City 
Council at this meeting.   
 
Please contact Zoning Administrator Anthony Traxler with any specific questions 
relating to this matter at a-traxler@cityofmaplewood.com or 314-646-3635.  
 
Residents of Maplewood are afforded an equal opportunity to comment regardless of 
race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, familial status, national origin or political 
affiliation.  The City of Maplewood is working to comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA).  Reasonable accommodations will be provided when 
required.  To request an accommodation, please call City Hall, 645-3600 or use Relay 
Missouri at 1-800-736-2966 at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting and 
communicate your needs. 
 

http://www.cityofmaplewood.com/
mailto:a-traxler@cityofmaplewood.com


RECORD OF PROCEEDING 

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD 

AT 7601 MANCHESTER ROAD 

JANUARY 9, 2024 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m., Mayor Knapper presiding. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:  Mayor Knapper acknowledged that this meeting is being held on 

traditional lands of the Kickapoo, Osage, Miami, Iroquois and Great Sioux Nation people. 

ON ROLL CALL, the following members were PRESENT: Mayor Knapper, Councilmember Coriell, 

Councilmember Faulkingham, Councilmember Garcia, Councilmember Homa, Councilmember 

Mattox and Councilmember Page.  

APPROVAL OF THE COUNCIL AGENDA:  Councilmember Faulkingham motioned to approve, 

seconded by Councilmember Homa, which motion received the approval of the Council. 

PUBLIC FORUM:  Resident Elizabeth Nathanson inquired about the timing of the code of ethics 

ordinance being put into place. Mayor Knapper pointed out that public forum is not a place to have 

questions answered, but she could tell her that the timing would likely be mid-February due to the fact 

that the ordinance would have to pass readings at two separate council meetings. Residents Eliza 

Coriell and Marie Long spoke. Concerns were expressed over the hiring process and lack of 

advertising for the City Manager position and questioned the timing of the compensation process.  

Resident Sandi Phillips echoed some of these concerns, as well as brought up a Missouri State Statute 

regarding closed session meetings. Resident Sam Pickering spoke advocating that the Maplewood 

community needs to have safer places for walking and riding bikes. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Councilmember Garcia mentioned the Sweet Tooth Tour that is coming up 

January 27th. 

APPROVAL OF THE NOVEMBER 14, 2023 AND DECEMBER 12, 2023 CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES:  Councilmember Faulkingham motioned to approve, seconded by Councilmember Homa, 

which motion received the approval of the Council. 

APPROVAL OF THE NOVEMBER 14, 2023, NOVEMBER 15, 2023, DECEMBER 5, 2023, DECEMBER 28, 

2023 AND DECEMBER 30, 2023 CLOSED SESSION MINUTES:  Councilmember Faulkingham motioned 

to approve, seconded by Councilmember Homa, which motion received the approval of the Council.  



BILL 6238, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, 

AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 5573, THE MAPLEWOOD CODE OF ORDINANCES, AS AMENDED, BY 

AMENDING SECTION 12-23, INSPECTIONS, TO WAIVE OCCUPANCY PERMIT INSPECTION FEES 

FOR NATURALLY OCCURRING AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS WITHIN THE CITY OF 

MAPLEWOOD was given its third and final reading. It was moved by Councilmember Faulkingham, duly 

seconded by Councilmember Homa, that Bill No. 6238 be approved, which motion received the following 

roll call vote: Ayes, Mayor Knapper, Councilmembers Coriell, Faulkingham, Garcia, Homa, Mattox and 

Page.  Nays, none.  

Bill 6238 was approved by the City Council on this 9th day of January, 2024 as Ordinance Number 6033. 

BILL 6239, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, 

AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 5573, THE MAPLEWOOD CODE OF ORDINANCES, AS AMENDED, BY 

REPEALING CHAPTER 10 ANIMALS AND FOWL, ARTICLE IV. DOGS AND CATS, SECTION 10-100 

LICENSE – FEE IMPOSED, AND SECTION 10-101 SAME-TAGS, TO ELIMINATE THE 

REQUIREMENTS FOR PET LICENSES AND TAGS AND TO AMEND CHAPTER 10 ANIMALS AND 

FOWL, ARTICLE V. KENNELS, SECTION 10-133 DEFINITION, TO INCREASE THE TOTAL 

COMBINED NUMBER OF CATS AND/OR DOGS PERMITTED WITHOUT A KENNEL LICENSE TO 

FIVE TOTAL ANIMALS was given its third and final reading. It was moved by Councilmember 

Faulkingham, duly seconded by Councilmember Homa, that Bill No. 6239 be approved, which motion 

received the following roll call vote: Ayes, Mayor Knapper, Councilmembers Coriell, Faulkingham, 

Garcia, Homa, Mattox and Page. Nays, none.  

Bill 6239 was approved by the City Council on this 9th day of January, 2024 as Ordinance Number 6034. 

BILL 6240, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, 

CALLING AND PROVIDING FOR THE HOLDING OF AN ELECTION IN THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, 

MISSOURI, ON APRIL 2, 2024 FOR THE PURPOSE OF SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED VOTERS OF 

THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD THE QUESTION OF WHETHER TO AMEND ARTICLE IX. - 

DEPARTMENT OF LAW OF THE CHARTER, AND DIRECTING THE CITY CLERK TO NOTIFY THE 

RESPONSIBLE ELECTION AUTHORITIES OF THIS ELECTION was given its third and final reading. It 

was moved by Councilmember Faulkingham, duly seconded by Councilmember Homa, that Bill No. 6240 

be approved, which motion received the following roll call vote: Ayes, Mayor Knapper, Councilmembers 

Coriell, Faulkingham, Garcia, Homa, and Page.  Nays, Councilmember Mattox.  

Bill 6240 was approved by the City Council on this 9th day of January, 2024 as Ordinance Number 6035. 

OLD BUSINESS:  None. 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION:  None.   

MAYOR’S REPORT:  Mayor Knapper wished everyone a happy new year.  She gave an update on her 

efforts regarding affordable housing in Maplewood, specifically mentioning the land off of Marshall Avenue.  

She stated she would reach back out to Catholic Charities.  She mentioned the ADU and that in West Denver 

Colorado, they have partnerships between certain banks and Habitat for Humanity.  She stated that Habitat for 

Humanity St. Louis is interested and she will circle back to them and a community bank. 

CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT:  None. 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT:  The City Manager thanked the Mayor, Council and City Staff for their 

genuine support.  She expressed her deep gratitude to Matt Nighbor and mentioned a contribution to the 

Maplewood Community Growth Fund that will be given in his honor.  She referenced her memo regarding her 

entry plan and her list of priority items that she will be addressing. 

PUBLIC FORUM:  No one spoke. 



MOTION TO HOLD A CLOSED SESSION TO DISCUSS MATTERS RELATING TO LITIGATION, 

LEGAL ACTIONS AND/OR COMMUNICATION FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY AS PROVIDED FOR IN 

SECTION 610.021(1)RSMO. AND/OR SPECIFICATIONS FOR COMPETITIVE BIDDING UNDER 

SECTION 610.021(11) AND/OR SEALED BIDS AND RELATED DOCUMENTS AND SEALED 

PROPOSALS AND RELATED DOCUMENTS UNDER SECTION 610.021(11) AND/OR PERSONNEL 

MATTERS UNDER SECTION 610.021(13)RSMO. AND/OR EMPLOYEE MATTERS UNDER SECTION 

610.021(3)RSMO. AND/OR REAL ESTATE MATTERS UNDER SECTION 610.021(2)RSMO. AND/OR 

DOCUMENTS RELATED TO A NEGOTIATED CONTRACT UNDER SECTION 610.021(12)RSMO: 

Mayor Knapper asked for a motion to hold a closed session to discuss personnel matters which was moved 

by Councilmember Faulkingham and seconded by Councilmember Homa which motion received the 

following roll call vote: Ayes, Mayor Knapper, Councilmembers Coriell, Faulkingham, Garcia, Homa, 

Mattox and Page. Nays, none.  

Council reconvened and there being no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned. 

Approved this 13th day of February, 2024 

__________________________________ 

Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

Attest: 

___________________________________ 

Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 



                                                                                                                       

INTEROFFICE 
MEMORANDUM 

__________________________________________________________ 
 

To: Mayor & City Council 

From: Anthony Traxler, Assistant City Manager/Director of Public Works 

Date: January 17, 2024 

Subject: Reallocation of Community Development Block Grant Funds - Sidewalks 
 
The City of Maplewood previously approved the use of CDBG funds for sidewalk replacement 
work on numerous streets within qualifying areas of town.  Due to deteriorating and hazardous 
conditions of the sidewalks on a couple of streets listed in our application (Alicia and McCready 
Avenues), the City’s street contractor repaired these sidewalks in lieu of waiting for the CDBG 
funds- which take approximately 18 months from the date of application.   
 
Because of this, we have sidewalk funds available and are requesting these funds be reallocated to 
the 7200 block of Richmond Place.  Since we are proposing to include a street that was not listed 
on the original block grant application, a public hearing is required.   
 
Please see the attached resolution requesting City Council approval for the reallocation of block 
grant funds.  If you have any questions, comments or concerns regarding this matter, please do 
not hesitate to contact me at 646-3635.  
 

 



 R E S O L U T I O N       R24- 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SUBMIT A REQUEST FOR THE 
REALLOCATION OF BLOCK GRANT FUNDS TO THE ST. LOUIS COUNTY OFFICE OF 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Maplewood has $64,000 in block grant funds allocated to sidewalk 
repairs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the 7200 block of Richmond Place was not included on the original 2022 
Block Grant application; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the sidewalks in the 7200 block of Richmond need to be reconstructed; and   
 
 WHEREAS, funds from the 2022 Block Grant application are available; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Maplewood held a public hearing on Tuesday, January 23, 2024 
to hear citizen’s comments on the proposed reallocation of block grant funds. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 The City Manager is hereby authorized to submit a request for the reallocation of block 
grant funds to the St. Louis County Office of Community Development; and  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Manager is authorized to sign all agreements 
and amendments that involve this reallocation request.   
 

 
Passed this 13rd day of February, 2024 
 

                                      
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest: 

                                      
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 

 
 
Approved this 13rd day of February, 2024 
 

                                      
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest: 

                                      
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 



Memorandum 
 
To: Mayor & City Council 
From: Amber Withycombe, City Manager 
Date: February 7, 2023 
Re: Central Core Fire Training Center Commission Intergovernmental Agreement 
 
 
In spring 2023, the cities of Brentwood, Clayton, and Richmond Heights entered into an 
intergovernmental agreement to create the Central Core Fire Training Center Commission 
(CCFTCC), a collaborative arrangement to reinforce and advance the cities’ shared public safety 
training objectives. Maplewood was invited to be part of the commission at the time and 
declined. The city currently participates in the Central Core Training Division, a collaboration 
among Brentwood, Clayton, Maplewood, Richmond Heights, Shrewsbury, and Webster Groves. 
This existing partnership supports a shared training officer and multi-agency training at locations 
throughout the region, including a fee-based training facility maintained by the West County 
EMS & Fire Protection District. 
 
During its December 12, 2023, work session, the Council heard from Fire Chief Peter Marsac 
about the CCFTCC’s pursuit of a $903,396.80 matching grant (enclosed) from the Missouri 
Department of Public Safety to support construction of a $1.87 million shared training facility in 
Shrewsbury on Carr Lane. At that time, Chief Marsac explained the benefits of participating in 
the CCFTCC, and the value of Maplewood maintaining its role as an active, invested, and 
committed partner to the other Central Core agencies. As a continuation of that discussion, I am 
recommending that Maplewood enter into the intergovernmental agreement to share the cost of 
constructing a multidisciplinary training facility to offer NFPA-compliant all-hazard emergency 
training, certifications, and operational readiness exercises to Maplewood’s public safety 
personnel, as well as those within the intergovernmental agreement and responders from across 
Missouri.  
 
The current commission member cities have already entered into a ground lease agreement for 
the training site and have commissioned Navigate to provide estimated project costs. Based on 
the attached budget and cash flow projection, which were prepared for the MDPS matching grant 
request, total outlays from Maplewood would entail: 
 
 FY24  FY25 FY26 
Professional Services & Permits $7,062.50 $52,383  $14,422 
Construction & Contingency  $127,591 $267,622 
Total $7,062.50 $179,973 $282,043 

Grand Total $469,079 
 



The commission will receive notification of the grant award from MDPS in March. Any funded 
matching grant amount will reduce the overall cost of the project for the four participating cities. 
The addition of any new partner cities would also reduce the overall cost to Maplewood. 
Currently, two additional municipalities are exploring the feasibility of their own participation. 
Until we receive notification from MDPS, we will plan to budget for the full cost of the project 
in our FY25 and FY26 budgets. Project expenses for FY24 will be drawn from existing funds in 
the Fire Department budget.  
 
The current CCFTCC board voted on February 2 to accept Maplewood as a partner. With the 
Council’s approval of the resolution to execute the intergovernmental agreement, the cities of 
Brentwood, Clayton, and Richmond Heights will adopt amended bylaws and a revised 
intergovernmental agreement to recognize Maplewood as a member of the CCFTCC. 



 

 R E S O L U T I O N  R24- 
 

AN RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
AGREEMENT ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, WITH THE CITIES 
OF BRENTWOOD, CLAYTON, AND RICHMOND HEIGHTS FOR PURPOSE OF JOINING THE 
CENTRAL CORE FIRE TRAINING CENTER COMMISSION. 

 
WHEREAS, the cities of Brentwood, Clayton, and Richmond Heights cooperate with one 

another to enhance the ability to provide public safety training services to member municipalities; and 

WHEREAS, Section 70.220 RSMo authorizes cities to work in a cooperative manner; and  

WHEREAS, cooperation between cities provides more efficient and enhanced services, 
and higher level of safety and preparedness for firefighting/emergency medical personnel for the 
provision of such services; 

WHEREAS, the City of Maplewood wishes to join Brentwood, Clayton, and Richmond 
Heights as an equal and full partner in the Central Core Fire Training Commission; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1. The Intergovernmental Agreement, incorporated herein, in the form attached hereto 

as Exhibit A is hereby approved, and the City Manager is authorized to execute same on behalf of 
the City and the City Clerk is authorized and directed to attest thereto. The documents as executed shall 
be in substantially the form of Exhibit A, with such changes therein as shall be approved by the City 
Manager, consistent with the provisions and intent of this resolution and necessary, desirable, 
convenient or proper in order to carry out the matters herein authorized. The City Manager and her 
designees are hereby authorized and directed to take any and all actions necessary, desirable, 
convenient or proper in order to carry out the intent of this resolution, the matters herein authorized, 
and the rights and duties of the City under the Agreement. 

 
Section 2. In the event that the Bylaws of Central Core Fire Training Commission are not 

amended to provide for the City of Maplewood to hold a seat on its Board of directors, this resolution 
and any and all actions taken pursuant hereto may be revoked. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Passed this 13th day of February, 2024 
 

______________________________ 
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor  

 
Attest:______________________________ 

Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 
 

 
Approved this 13th day of February, 2024 

 
______________________________ 
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor  

 
 
Attest:______________________________ 

Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Exhibit A 

Intergovernmental Agreement Attached 



EXHIBIT A 

Central Core Fire Training Center Commission Intergovernmental Agreement 

This Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into as of the date last subscribed below by and between 
the Missouri cities of Brentwood, Clayton and Richmond Heights (the "Cities"), all of which are 
political subdivisions of the State of Missouri and are authorized to enter into this Agreement 
pursuant to Sections 70.220 and 70.260 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri. 

Purpose 

The purpose of this agreement by and between the Cities of is to create a Missouri statutory 
commission ("Commission") to enhance the ability of the Cities to provide fire department 
training services to member municipalities. 

Commission activities may include, but are not limited to, the creation, construction and 
operation of public improvements and facilities and coordination of related activities to promote 
the ability of member municipalities to provide fire department training services. 

Commission Powers: 

Under no circumstances are the proposed powers of the Commission to be interpreted as 
permitting or authorizing any activity or endeavor by the Commission within the corporate limits 
of a Member Municipality that is within the scope of that municipality's authority as defined by 
Missouri statute unless such municipality has expressly authorized and/or permitted such activity 
or endeavor. 

The Commission shall have powers, except to the extent any such power has been limited by any 
enabling legislation, necessary to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the 
Commission including, but not limited to, the following: 

(1) After ratification by motion of the respective Boards of Aldermen or City Council of the 
Cities, to adopt, amend, and repeal bylaws necessary or convenient to administer Commission 
affairs and responsibilities and carry out the purposes of the Commission; provided such bylaws 
are not inconsistent with the ordinances of the Cities in which the Commission is created. 

(2) To make and enter into contracts and other instruments, with public and private entities, 
necessary or convenient to exercise its powers and achieve the purposes of the Commission. 
However, any such contracts that commit the Commission to expend an amount in excess of 
$60,000.00 and/or bind the Commission to performance for a period of at least one year shall 
require ratification by motion of the respective Boards of Aldermen or City Council of the Cities. 



(3) To accept grants, guarantees and donations of real property, personal property, labor, 
services, or other things of value from any public or private source. 

(4) To employ or contract for such managerial, engineering, legal, technical, clerical, 
accounting or other assistance as is deemed appropriate, advisable or necessary by the Board of 
Directors to carry out the purpose and intent of the Commission. 

(5) To acquire by purchase, lease, gift, grant, bequest, devise, or otherwise, any real property, 
personal property, or any interest in such property. 

(6) To buy, sell, lease, exchange, transfer, assign, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise 
encumber or dispose of any real or personal property or any interest in such property within the 
boundaries of the Commission as is determined to be necessary by the Board of Directors to carry 
out the intent and purposes of the Commission. 

(7) To levy and collect Member Municipal assessments, and real and personal Property taxes 
and other revenues as provided in the enabling legislation. However, no taxes shall be levied on 
any property exempt from taxation pursuant to state statute. Nothing contained herein shall prevent 
any tax exempt property from voluntarily contributing its proportionate tax to the Commission. 

(8) To fix, charge, and collect fees, rents, and other charges for use of any of the following: 

(a) The Commission's real property; 

(b) The Commission's personal property; 

(c) Any of the Commission's interests in real or personal property, or any activity, service or 
endeavor of the Commission 

(9) To borrow money from any public or private source, issue bonds or other obligations, and 
provide security for the repayment of the same as provided in state statute. 

(10) To make expenditures, create reserve funds and use its revenues and reserves as necessary 
to carry out its powers or duties and the provisions and purposes of the Commission, The 
Commission shall reimburse or otherwise compensate a Member Municipality that provides legal, 
IT, financial and other such services for staff time and expenses performed for the Commission. 

(11) To carry out any other powers set forth in the Commission enabling legislation. 

(12) To sue and be sued. 

Withdrawal: 



Any Member Municipality may withdraw from the Commission upon giving one year's written 
notice to the Commission, evidenced by resolution of its governing body, and payment of all 
amounts in arrears for assessments; provided, that if the Commission, prior to the giving of such 
notice, shall have incurred indebtedness in conformity with the powers granted by this Agreement 
which matures after the effective date of the notice of withdrawal, the withdrawal shall not become 
effective until such indebtedness shall have been paid by the Commission, or until sufficient funds 
have been set aside irrevocably in trust to satisfy such indebtedness, or, in the alternative, until the 
withdrawing contracting party shall have paid to the Commission its pro rata portion thereof, or 
until sufficient funds have been set aside irrevocably in trust to satisfy such portion. Any Member 
Municipality that withdraws from the Commission shall thereby forfeit any ownership interest in 
any assets of the Commission and shall not be entitled to any property or assets of the Commission. 
Any contracting party that has given notice of withdrawal shall not be obligated for new 
indebtedness after giving such notice. 

Miscellaneous General Terms: 

(l) Nothing in this agreement shall be construed to delegate to the Commission any sovereign 
right held by any Member Municipality to regulate the use and development of land, promote 
order, safety, health, morals, and general welfare of the public. 

(2) The Commission shall not have the power of eminent domain to acquire real property. The 
Commission may enter into joint agreements with the Member Municipalities to acquire real 
property through eminent domain, but such authority shall be retained by the member 
municipalities and shall only be used as is provided by Missouri statute. 

(3) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with regard to the 
subject matters contained herein, and all prior and contemporaneous negotiations and 
understandings between the parties shall be deemed merged into the Agreement. No waiver, 
modification or amendment of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless in 
writing, signed by all parties, and then only to the extent set forth in such written waiver, 
modification or amendment, and subject to any required Court approval. 

(4) If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be void, 
voidable, unlawful or unenforceable, the remaining portions of this Agreement will remain in full 
force and effect. 

(5) The parties may execute this Agreement in counterparts, and execution in one or more 
counterparts shall have the same force and effect as if all parties had signed the same instrument. 

(6) A copy of each City's execution, along with a resolution or ordinance authorizing same shall 
be forwarded to and maintained by the Board of Directors. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed by the Cities through their duly 
authorized representatives on the dates noted below. 

CITY OF BRENTWOOD, MISSOURI 

By  By 

ATTEST: ATTEST: 

City Clerk 
 

Dated:  Dated: 
 

 

CITY OF CLAYTON, MISSOURI 

By  

 

 
  

ity Clerk  

93 

Mayor 

Mayor 

CITY  MISSOURI 



 

BYLAWS OF CENTRAL CORE FIRE TRAINING CENTER COMMISSION 

ARTICLE I NAME 

Sec�on I.01 The name of the organiza�on is Central Core Fire Training Center Commission 
(the "Commission"). 

ARTICLE II OFFICES 

Sec�on II.01 The principal office of the Commission shall be located at such place within 
the State of Missouri as shall be fixed from �me to �me by resolu�on of the Board of Directors 
(the "Board"), and if no place is fixed by the Board, such place as shall be fixed by the Board Chair 
or, if none, the President. The Commission may also have such other offices within the State of 
Missouri as the Board may from �me to �me determine or the business of the Commission may 
require. 

ARTICLE III PURPOSE 

Sec�on III.01 The purposes of the Commission shall be those set forth in the 
Intergovernmental Agreement of the Commission, as may be amended from �me to �me (the 
"Intergovernmental Agreement"). 

ARTICLE IV MEMBERS 

Sec�on IV.01 Membership. The Commission shall have a maximum of four (4) members. 
Membership in the Commission shall be open to all persons interested in the Commission's 
purposes who meet the requirements set forth in Sec�on 4.03 herein. Each person may hold only 
one membership and may not hold frac�onal memberships. Membership en�tles each member 
to the rights set forth in this Ar�cle IV but does not grant any ownership rights in or distribu�on 
rights from the Commission. No member may transfer a membership and all rights of membership 
cease upon the member's death or dissolu�on, expulsion or termina�on in accordance with 
Sec�on 4.16 of these bylaws, or resigna�on in accordance with Sec�on 4.17 of these bylaws. 

Sec�on IV.02 RESERVED. 

Sec�on IV.03 Requirements for Membership. An en�ty must be a Missouri Municipal 
Commission to be a member of the Commission and must pay the membership fees, assessments, 
and any other considera�on as determined by the Board in its reasonable discre�on. 

An en�ty must also be a signatory of the Coopera�ve Fire Training Officer Agreement. Other 
qualifica�on or criteria for membership may be required as determined by the Board from �me 
to �me in its reasonable discre�on. 

Sec�on IV.04 Classes of Membership. The Commission shall have one class of members. 



2 

Sec�on IV.05 Annual and Regular Mee�ngs. The annual mee�ng of the members shall be 
held at a �me and place fixed by the Board, in the month of October of each year, at 10:00 a.m. 
local �me at which mee�ng the members shall elect the directors and transact such other 
business as may come before the mee�ng. Regular mee�ngs of the members shall be held at such 
�mes and places as may be fixed by the Board from �me to �me by resolu�on or as specified in 
the no�ce of the mee�ng. 

Sec�on IV.06 Special Mee�ngs. Special mee�ngs of the members shall be held whenever 
called by resolu�on of the Board, by the President, or by a writen demand to the Secretary by at 
least five percent (5%) of the members eligible to vote. Special mee�ngs must be held not less 
than thirty-five (35) days nor more than ninety (90) days a�er the resolu�on or writen demand 
is made. 

Sec�on IV.07 Place of Mee�ngs. Member mee�ngs may be held at any place within or 
without the State of Missouri that is designated in the no�ce of the mee�ng. If no place is stated 
in the no�ce or if there is no no�ce, mee�ngs shall be held at the Commission’s principal office. 

Sec�on IV.08 No�ce of Mee�ngs. 

(a) No�ce Required. Writen no�ce of the place, date, and �me of any 
member mee�ng where members are required or permited to take ac�on shall be given 
to each member who, on the record date for no�ce of the mee�ng, is en�tled to vote at 
such mee�ng. The Secretary, upon receiving writen demand or resolu�on for a special 
mee�ng, shall cause such no�ce to be given to the members en�tled to vote at such 
mee�ng. If the Secretary fails to do so within twenty (20) days of receiving such writen 
demand or resolu�on, the persons en�tled to call the mee�ng may give such no�ce. 

(b) Delivery of No�ce. No�ce shall be given to each member at his or her 
address or contact informa�on as it appears on the records of the Commission or at the 
address given by the member to the Corporate for purposes of no�ce by one of the 
following methods: 

(i) First-class mail, with prepaid postage thereon, or cer�fied mail; 

(ii) Telephone, including a voice messaging system or other system or 
technology designed to record and communicate messages; 

(iii) Personal delivery of writen no�ce, including by courier service; or 
(iv) Facsimile transmission, email, or other electronic means, if the 

member has consented to accept no�ces in this manner, except that no�ce by 
electronic transmission shall not be given if: 

(A) the Commission is unable to deliver two consecu�ve 
no�ces to the member by that means; or 



3 

(B) the inability to so deliver the no�ces to the member becomes known to 
the secretary, any assistant secretary, the transfer agent, or other person responsible 
for the giving of the no�ce. 

No�ce shall be deemed to have been given when sent, and if by mail, when 
deposited in the United States mail with prepaid postage thereon. If a member's 
address or contact informa�on does not appear on the books of the Commission 
or is not given, no�ce shall be given when addressed to the member at the 
Commission's principal office or by publica�on at least once in a newspaper of 
general circula�on in the county in which the principal office is located. 

(c) Timing of No�ce. No�ce shall be given to each member at least ten (10) 
days but not more than sixty (60) days before the �me set for the mee�ng. 

(d) Content of No�ce. The no�ce shall state: 

(i) The place, date, and �me of the mee�ng; 

(ii) The means of electronic transmission by and to the Commission 
or conference telephone or electronic video screen communica�on, if any, by 
which members may par�cipate in the mee�ng; 

(iii) In the case of a special mee�ng, a descrip�on of the mater(s) for 
which the mee�ng is called and the general nature of the business to be 
transacted;  

(iv) In the case of an annual or regular mee�ng, those maters which 
the Board, at the �me the no�ce is given, intends to present for ac�on by the 
members; and 

(v) If directors are to be elected at the mee�ng, the names of all 
those who are nominees at the �me the no�ce is given to members. 

(e) Waiver of No�ce. No�ce of a regular or special member mee�ng need not 
be given to a member who submits a signed waiver of no�ce to the Commission before 
or at the mee�ng’s commencement, or who atends the mee�ng without protes�ng (not 
later than the commencement of the mee�ng) the lack of no�ce to him or her. 

Sec�on IV.09 Quorum and Ac�on of the Members.  

(a) At all member mee�ngs, a majority of the members present in person or 
by proxy shall cons�tute a quorum for the transac�on of business.  

(b) Any act approved by a majority of the vo�ng power represented at the 
mee�ng at which a quorum is present, en�tled to vote, and vo�ng on any mater is the 
act of the members, unless the the Intergovernmental Agreement, or these bylaws 
require a greater number.  



4 

(c) A mee�ng at which a quorum is ini�ally present may con�nue to transact 
business un�l adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough members to leave 
less than a quorum, if any ac�on taken (other than adjournment) is approved by at least 
a majority of the members who cons�tute the required quorum for the mee�ng, or such 
greater number as required by the, the Intergovernmental Agreement, or these bylaws. 

Sec�on IV.10 Adjournment of Mee�ng.  

(a) In the absence of a quorum, any member mee�ng may be adjourned from 
�me to �me by the vote of a majority of the votes represented either in person or by 
proxy, but no other business may be transacted, except as provided in Sec�on 4.09(c). No 
mee�ng may be adjourned for more than 45 days. 

(b) No�ce need not be given of the adjourned mee�ng if the �me and place 
thereof (or the means of electronic transmission by and to the Commission or electronic 
video screen communica�on, if any, by which members may par�cipate) are announced 
at the mee�ng at which the adjournment is taken. If a�er the adjournment a new record 
date is fixed for no�ce or vo�ng, a no�ce of the adjourned mee�ng shall be given to each 
member who, on the record date for no�ce of the mee�ng, is en�tled to vote at the 
mee�ng. 

(c) At the adjourned mee�ng the Commission may transact any business 
which might have been transacted at the original mee�ng. 

Sec�on IV.11 Vo�ng. Each member shall be en�tled to one (1) vote on each mater 
submited to a member vote. The record date for determining the members en�tled to vote at a 
member mee�ng shall be fixed by the Board in advance of the mee�ng. 

Sec�on IV.12 Ac�on Without a Mee�ng by Ballot.  

(a) Any ac�on which may be taken at any regular or special mee�ng of the 
members may be taken without a mee�ng if the Commission distributes a writen ballot 
to every member en�tled to vote on the mater.  

(b) All solicita�ons of ballots shall: 

(i) indicate the number of responses needed to meet the quorum 
requirement; 

(ii) state the percentage of approvals necessary to pass the measure 
submited with respect to ballots other than for the elec�on of directors; and 

(iii) specify the �me by which the ballot must be received in order to be 
counted. 

(c) The writen ballot shall set forth the proposed ac�on, provide an 
opportunity to specify approval or disapproval of any proposal, and provide a reasonable 
�me within which to return the ballot to the Commission. 



5 

(d) Approval by writen ballot pursuant to this Sec�on 4.12 shall be valid only 
when: 

(i) the number of votes cast by ballot within the �me period specified 
equals or exceeds the quorum required to be present at a mee�ng authorizing the 
ac�on; and  

(ii) the number of approvals cast by ballot equals or exceeds the 
number of votes required to approve the ac�on at a mee�ng at which the total 
number of votes cast was the same as the number of votes cast by ballot. 

Sec�on IV.13 Ac�on Without a Mee�ng by Writen Consent. Any ac�on required or 
permited to be taken by the members may be taken without a mee�ng, if all members 
individually or collec�vely consent in wri�ng to the ac�on. The writen consent or consents shall 
be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the members. The ac�on by writen consent shall 
have the same force and effect as the unanimous vote of the members. 

Sec�on IV.14 Proxies. Any member en�tled to vote at a member mee�ng or to execute 
consents may authorize another person or persons to act for such member by proxy. Every proxy 
must be in wri�ng and signed by the member, or by email se�ng forth informa�on from which it 
can be reasonably determined that the proxy was authorized by such member. No proxy shall be 
valid a�er the expira�on of eleven (11) months from the date thereof unless otherwise provided 
in the proxy, provided but no proxy shall be valid for more than three (3) years from the date 
thereof. Every proxy shall be revocable at the pleasure of the member execu�ng it. 

Sec�on IV.15 Mee�ng by Remote Communica�on. A mee�ng of the members may be 
conducted, in whole or in part, by electronic transmission by and to the Commission or by 
conference telephone or electronic video screen communica�on if authorized by the Board in its 
sole discre�on. The member shall be deemed present in person or by proxy at such mee�ng if the 
condi�ons of RSMo. Sec. 610.015 are sa�sfied. 

Sec�on IV.16 Expulsion, Suspension, or Termina�on.  

(a) Cause for Expulsion, Suspension, or Termina�on. A member may be 
expelled, suspended, or terminated if the Board, in good faith and according to a fair and 
reasonable procedure, determines that either: 

(i) The member fails to pay any required membership fees, 
assessments, or other considera�on in a �mely fashion a�er no�ce of the same. 

(ii) The member's conduct or act violates the purpose and mission of 
the Commission, these bylaws, the Commission's policies, or applicable law. 

(b) No�ce Requirements. The Board shall provide writen no�ce to the 
member of the member's expulsion, suspension, or termina�on and the reasons thereof. 
The no�ce shall be given at least fi�een (15) days before the effec�ve date of such 
expulsion, suspension, or termina�on. No�ce may be given by any method reasonably 



6 

calculated to provide actual no�ce. Any no�ce given by mail must be given by first-class 
or registered mail sent to the last address of the member shown on the Commission's 
records. 

(c) Member Hearing. Any member who receives no�ce of such member's 
expulsion, suspension, or termina�on shall have the opportunity to be heard, either orally 
or in wri�ng, at least five (5) days before the effec�ve date of the expulsion, suspension, 
or determina�on. Such hearing shall be before the Board or any other such person or 
commitee authorized to decide that the expulsion, suspension, or termina�on not take 
place. 

(d) Member Obliga�ons. Expulsion, suspension, or termina�on shall not 
relieve the affected member from any obliga�on for charges incurred, services or benefits 
actually rendered, dues, assessments, or fees incurred before the expulsion, suspension, 
or termina�on, or arising from contract or otherwise. 

Sec�on IV.17 Resigna�on. A member may resign from membership at any �me, subject 
to any contract among the members or between the members and the Commission. This Sec�on 
4.17 shall not relieve the resigning member from any obliga�on for charges incurred, services or 
benefits actually rendered, dues, assessments, or fees, or arising from contract or otherwise. This 
Sec�on 4.17 shall not diminish any right of the Commission to enforce any such obliga�on or 
obtain damages for its breach. A membership issued for a period of �me shall expire when such 
period of �me has elapsed unless the membership is renewed. 

ARTICLE V BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Sec�on V.01 Powers.  

(a) Subject to applicable law and in accordance with the purposes and 
limita�ons set forth in the Intergovernmental Agreement and herein, the ac�vi�es and 
affairs of the Commission shall be conducted and all corporate powers shall be exercised 
by or under the direc�on of the Board, provided that all income and the property of the 
Commission shall be applied exclusively for its nonprofit purposes and no part of the net 
earnings or other assets of the Commission shall inure to the benefit of any director or 
any other private individual, except that the Commission shall be authorized and 
empowered to pay reasonable compensa�on for services rendered and to make 
payments and distribu�ons in furtherance of its  stated purposes. 

(b) The Board may delegate the management of the Commission’s ac�vi�es to 
any person or persons, management company, or commitee however composed, 
provided that the ac�vi�es and affairs of the Commission shall be managed and all 
corporate powers shall be exercised under the ul�mate direc�on of the Board. 

Sec�on V.02 Number. The authorized number of directors of the Commission shall be 
three (3). Any resolu�on changing the Commission's number of authorized directors shall require 
the approval of the members and amendment of these bylaws. 



7 

Sec�on V.03 En�re Board. As used in these bylaws, the term "En�re Board" shall mean 
the total number of directors then in office. 

Sec�on V.04 Qualifica�ons. Each director shall be at least 18 years of age and an employee 
of a member of the Commission . 

Sec�on V.05 Elec�on and Term of Office. Each member shall appoint one (1) director to 
serve on the Board. Each member shall appoint its City Manager (or equivalent posi�on) or the 
City Manager’s designee to serve as such member’s director.  Each director shall serve un�l the 
elec�on and qualifica�on of such director’s successor, or un�l such director's death, resigna�on, 
or removal.   

 Sec�on V.06 Newly Created Directorships and Vacancies.  Newly created 
directorships resul�ng from an increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled at any 
mee�ng of the Board by the vote of the majority of the directors then in office, although less than 
a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. Each director so elected shall serve un�l the next 
annual mee�ng of the members and un�l such director's successor is elected and qualified. A 
vacancy occurring for any other reason, including death, resigna�on or removal shall be filled by 
the Member agency. 

Sec�on V.07 Removal.  

(a) Any director may be removed at any �me without cause as provided in 
RSMo. Sec. 355.346. 

(b) No reduc�on of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect by 
itself of removing any director before the expira�on of the director's term of office.  

Sec�on V.08 Resigna�on. Any director may resign from the Board at any �me by giving 
writen no�ce to the Board, the President, or the Secretary of the Commission, except if such 
resigna�on would leave the Commission without a duly elected director. Unless otherwise 
specified in the no�ce, the resigna�on shall take effect at the �me of receipt by the Board or such 
officer. The acceptance of such resigna�on shall not be necessary to make it effec�ve. No 
resigna�ons shall discharge any accrued obliga�on or duty of a director. 

Sec�on V.09 Annual and Regular Mee�ngs. The Board shall hold an annual mee�ng 
immediately following the annual mee�ng of the members at which mee�ng the Board shall 
appoint officers and transact any other business as shall come before the mee�ng. Regular 
mee�ngs of the Board shall be held at such �mes and places as may be fixed by the Board by 
resolu�on or as specified in the no�ce of the mee�ng. 

Sec�on V.10 Special Mee�ngs. Special mee�ngs of the Board may be held at any �me 
upon the call of the Board Chair, the President, the Vice President, the Secretary, or any two (2) 
directors, in each case at such �me and place as shall be fixed by the person or persons calling 
the mee�ng, as specified in the no�ce thereof. 



8 

Sec�on V.11 Place of Mee�ngs. Mee�ngs of the Board may be held at any place within or 
without the State of Missouri that is designated in the no�ce of the mee�ng. If no place is stated 
in the no�ce or if there is no no�ce, mee�ngs shall be held at the Commission’s principal office 
unless another place has been designated by a resolu�on duly adopted by the Board. 

Sec�on V.12 No�ce of Mee�ngs.  

(a) No No�ce Required; Waiver of No�ce. No no�ce of a regular mee�ng shall 
be required where the �me and place of the mee�ngs are fixed by these bylaws or by 
Board resolu�on, as permited under Sec�on 5.09. No�ce of a regular or special mee�ng 
need not be given to a director who submits a signed waiver of no�ce to the Commission 
before or at the mee�ng's commencement, or who atends the mee�ng without 
protes�ng (not later than the commencement of the mee�ng) the lack of no�ce to him or 
her. 

(b) No�ce Required. No�ce of any special mee�ng, and of any regular mee�ng 
if the �me and place are not so fixed by these bylaws or by Board resolu�on, shall be given 
to each director. 

(c) Delivery of No�ce. No�ce, when required, shall be given to each director 
by one of the following methods: 

(i) First-class mail, with prepaid postage thereon; 

(ii) Telephone, including a voice messaging system or other system or 
technology designed to record and communicate messages; 

(iii) Facsimile transmission, email, or other electronic means, if the director has 
consented to accept no�ces in this manner; or 

(iv) Personal delivery of writen no�ce, including by courier service. 

Such no�ce shall be addressed or delivered to each director at his or her address 
or contact informa�on as it appears on the records of the Commission. No�ce 
shall be deemed to have been given when sent, and if by mail, when deposited in 
the United States mail with prepaid postage thereon. 

(d) Timing of No�ce. No�ce must be given to each director at least four (4) 
days before the �me set for the mee�ng if by first-class mail and at least forty-eight (48) 
hours before the �me set for the mee�ng if given personally, by telephone, by facsimile 
transmission, or by email or other electronic means. 

(e) Content of No�ce. No�ce shall state the �me and place where the mee�ng 
is to be held. The no�ce need not specify the purpose of the mee�ng unless required to 
elsewhere by these bylaws. 

Sec�on V.13 Quorum and Ac�on of the Board. Subject to the terms of Sec�on 5.16 below, 
the presence of all directors shall cons�tute a quorum for the transac�on of business. Any act 



9 

approved by all of the directors present at a duly held mee�ng at which a quorum is present or 
unanimously approved pursuant to Sec�on 5.16 is the act of the Board, unless, the 
Intergovernmental Agreement, or these bylaws require a greater number.  

Sec�on V.14 Mee�ng by Remote Communica�on. A mee�ng of the directors or any 
commitee of the Board may be conducted, in whole or in part, by electronic transmission by and 
to the Commission or by conference telephone or electronic video screen communica�on if 
authorized by the Board in its sole discre�on. The director or commitee member shall be deemed 
present in person at such mee�ng if the condi�ons of RSMo. Sec. 610.015 are sa�sfied. 

Sec�on V.15 Adjournment of Mee�ng. A majority of the directors present, whether or 
not a quorum is present, may adjourn the mee�ng to another �me and place. If a mee�ng is 
adjourned for more than twenty-four (24) hours, no�ce of the adjournment to another �me and 
place shall be given before the adjourned mee�ng to each director not present at the �me of the 
adjournment. 

Sec�on V.16 Ac�on Without a Mee�ng. Any ac�on required or permited to be taken by 
the Board or any commitee thereof may be taken without a mee�ng if all of the directors or 
commitee members consent to the ac�on in wri�ng. The ac�on by writen consent shall have 
the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of the directors or commitee members. 

Sec�on V.17 Compensa�on. The Commission shall not pay compensa�on to directors for 
services rendered to the Commission as directors, except that directors may be reimbursed for 
actual expenses reasonably incurred in the performance of their du�es to the Commission, such 
as atending mee�ngs and administering the Commission’s affairs. A director may receive 
reasonable compensa�on for the performance of services provided to the Commission in any 
capacity separate from his or her responsibili�es as a director when so authorized by a majority 
of the directors then in office and subject to Sec�on 5.18 of these bylaws and any applicable Board 
policy or procedure. 

Sec�on V.18 Conflict of Interest. The Board affirms that the members, directors, officers, 
employees, agents and fiduciaries of the Commission (i) have a special obliga�on to exercise their 
authority and to carry out the du�es of their respec�ve posi�ons for the sole benefit of the 
Commission, the Commission’s charitable purposes, and the general public served by the 
Commission, and (ii) should avoid placing themselves in posi�ons in which their personal interests 
are, or may be, in conflict with the interests of the Commission.  Where a poten�al conflict of 
interest exists, whether directly or indirectly, it shall be the responsibility of the person involved 
to no�fy the Board of the circumstances resul�ng in the poten�al conflict so that the Board can 
provide such guidance and take such ac�on as it shall deem appropriate.  No director who is 
directly or indirectly involved in a poten�al conflict of interest shall be counted in determining the 
existence of a quorum at any mee�ng of the Board where the poten�al conflict is considered, nor 
shall such director vote on any ac�on of the Board regarding the poten�al conflict of interest.  The 
Board may, from �me to �me, ar�culate its expecta�ons regarding conflicts of interest and related 
maters in a writen policy.  The Board may further provide a copy of said writen policy to 
members, directors, officers, employees and agents on an annual basis and require such persons 
to disclose exis�ng or poten�al conflicts of interest as defined herein and under said writen policy 
along with a signature in acknowledgement of receipt and intent to comply. 



10 

ARTICLE VI COMMITTEES 

Sec�on VI.01 Execu�ve Commitee and Other Commitees of the Board. The Board, by 
resolu�on adopted by a majority of the En�re Board, may designate one or more commitees, 
including an execu�ve commitee, each consis�ng of two (2) or more directors, to serve at the 
pleasure of the Board and to exercise the authority of the Board to the extent provided in the 
resolu�on establishing the commitee, except that no such commitee shall have authority to do 
any of the following: 

(a) Approve any ac�on for which the Intergovernmental Agreement, or these 
bylaws requires approval by the En�re Board. 

(b) Fill vacancies on the Board or in any commitee which has the authority of 
the Board. 

(c) Amend or repeal the bylaws or adopt new bylaws. 

(d) Amend or repeal any resolu�on of the Board which by its express terms is 
not so amendable or repealable. 

(e) Appoint commitees of the Board or the members thereof. 

(f) Expend corporate funds to support a nominee for director a�er there are 
more people nominated for director than can be elected. 

(g) Authorize distribu�ons to members, directors, officers, agents or 
employees except in exchange for value received.  

(h) Approve or recommend to members dissolu�on, merger or the sale, 
pledge or transfer of all or substan�ally all of the Commission's assets. 

(i) Elect, appoint or remove directors.  

The designa�on of a commitee of the Board and the delega�on thereto of authority shall 
not operate to relieve the Board or any member thereof of any responsibility imposed by law. All 
members of the execu�ve commitee shall be directors, except as otherwise provided in a 
resolu�on of the Board, however, other commitees of the Board may have members who are not 
directors in addi�on to the two (2) or more commitee members who are directors.  

Sec�on VI.02 Quorum and Ac�on by Commitee. Unless otherwise provided by resolu�on 
of the Board, a majority of all of the members of a commitee shall cons�tute a quorum for the 
transac�on of business and the vote of a majority of all of the members of a commitee shall be 
the act of the commitee. The procedures and manner of ac�ng of the execu�ve commitee and 
the other commitees of the Board shall be subject at all �mes to the direc�on of the Board. 

Sec�on VI.03 Alternate Members. The Board, by vote of a majority of the En�re Board, 
may designate one (1) or more directors as alternate members of any commitee, who may 
replace any absent or disqualified member at any mee�ng of the commitee. 



11 

Sec�on VI.04 RESERVED.  

Sec�on VI.05 RESERVED.  

Sec�on VI.06 Advisory Commitees. The Board may create one or more advisory 
commitees to serve at the pleasure of the Board. Appointments to such advisory commitees 
may, but need not, be directors. The Board shall appoint and discharge advisory commitee 
members. All ac�ons and recommenda�ons of an advisory commitee shall require ra�fica�on by 
the Board before being given effect. 

ARTICLE VII OFFICERS 

Sec�on VII.01 Officers. The officers of the Commission shall consist of at least a Board 
Chair or a President or both, a Secretary, and a Treasurer or a Chief Financial Officer or both. The 
Board may from �me to �me appoint such other officers, including one or more Vice Presidents, 
as it may determine. All officers shall be chosen by the Board from slates of candidates eligible 
and willing to serve. One person may hold, and perform the du�es of, more than one office, 
except that the same person may not concurrently hold the offices of President or Board Chair 
and Secretary, Treasurer or Chief Financial Officer. 

Sec�on VII.02 Elec�on, Term of Office and Qualifica�ons. For the first term during which 
these bylaws are in full force and effect, the officers of the Commission shall be elected by the 
ini�al Board at the first mee�ng of that body, to serve at the pleasure of the Board of the 
Commission un�l the first annual mee�ng of the Board or un�l their successors are duly elected.  
Therea�er, the officers of the Commission shall be elected by a majority vote of the Board at the 
annual mee�ng of the Board, and each officer shall hold office for a one (1) year term, subject to 
the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment. Each officer shall hold his or her 
office un�l such officer's successor is elected and qualified or un�l such officer's earlier death, 
resigna�on, or removal. Officers may be elected for three (3) consecu�ve terms, subject to the 
rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment. Except as may otherwise be 
provided herein or in the resolu�on of the Board choosing an officer, no officer need be a director. 
All officers shall be subject to the supervision and direc�on of the Board. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the elec�on, term of office, and qualifica�ons for the Board Chair are set forth in 
Sec�on 7.06 herein.  

Sec�on VII.03 Removal. Any officer elected or appointed by the Board may be removed 
at any �me, with or without cause, by a vote of a majority of the En�re Board at a duly held 
mee�ng at which a quorum is present, subject to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract 
of employment. 

Sec�on VII.04 Resigna�on. Any officer may resign at any �me by giving writen no�ce to 
the Board. Unless otherwise specified in the no�ce, the resigna�on shall take effect at the �me 
of receipt by the Board. The acceptance of such resigna�on shall not be necessary to make it 
effec�ve. Any resigna�on is without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the Commission under any 
contract to which the officer is a party. 



12 

Sec�on VII.05 Vacancies. A vacancy in any office arising from any cause shall be filled for 
the unexpired por�on of the term by the Board at the next regular or special mee�ng of the 
Board. 

Sec�on VII.06 Board Chair. The Board Chair, if any, shall be a director and preside at all 
mee�ngs of the Board, and exercise and perform such other powers and du�es as may from �me 
to �me be assigned to him or her by the Board. If the Commission has both a Board Chair and a 
President, the Board shall, by resolu�on, establish the specific du�es carried by each posi�on. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Sec�on 7.02 of these bylaws, the Board Chair (i) shall 
rotate on an annual basis between the directors in accordance with the alphabe�cal order of each 
member (e.g., the director from the City of Brentwood would serve as the Board Chair for the first 
year, the director from the City of Clayton would serve as the Board Chair for the second year, the 
director from the City of Maplewood would serve as the Board 
Chair for the third year, the director from the City of Richmond Heights would serve as the Board 
Chair for the fourth year, and then the order would repeat itself); (ii) shall hold office for a one (1) 
year term and shall hold his or her office un�l the Board Chair’s successor is elected and qualified 
or un�l such Board Chair’s earlier death, resigna�on, or removal; and (iii) may not serve 
consecu�ve terms as Board Chair. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the director having served as 
the Board Chair may con�nue to serve as a director following such director’s term as Board Chair.  

Sec�on VII.07 President. The President shall preside at all mee�ngs of the Board if there 
is no Board Chair or in the Board Chair's absence. He or she shall have the general powers and 
du�es of supervision and management of the Commission which usually pertain to his or her 
office and shall perform all such other du�es as are properly required of him or her by the Board. 
The President shall, in addi�on, be the Chief Execu�ve Officer. 

Sec�on VII.08 Vice President. Each Vice President may be designated by such �tle as the 
Board may determine, and each such Vice President in such order of seniority as may be 
determined by the Board, shall, in the absence or disability of the President perform the du�es 
and exercise the powers of the President. Each Vice President also shall have such other powers 
and perform such du�es as usually pertain to his or her office or as are properly required of him 
or her by the Board.  

 Sec�on VII.09 Secretary. The Secretary shall have the following powers and 
du�es, and such other powers and du�es as usually pertain to his or her office or as are properly 
required of him or her by the Board: 

(a) Ar�cles and Bylaws. The Secretary shall keep or cause to be kept the 
original or a copy of the Commission's Intergovernmental Agreement and these bylaws, 
as amended from �me to �me, at its principal office in the State of Missouri.  

(b) Minutes and Resolu�ons. The Secretary shall record, cer�fy, and keep, or 
cause to be kept, the original or a copy of the minutes of all mee�ngs and resolu�ons of 
the Board and its commitees, and all mee�ngs and ballots of the members. The minutes 
may also be kept in a form that is readily conver�ble into a clearly legible tangible form. 



13 

(c) No�ces and Reports. The Secretary shall give and serve all no�ces and 
reports as required by law and these bylaws. 

(d) Corporate Seal. The Secretary shall keep the corporate seal, if any, to sign 
such instruments as require the seal and his or her signature.  

(e) Inspec�on. The Secretary shall exhibit at all reasonable �mes the 
Commission's Intergovernmental Agreement and bylaws to any director or member upon 
writen demand at the principal office of the Commission. 

 Sec�on VII.10 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have the following powers and 
du�es, and such other powers and du�es as usually pertain to his or her office or as are properly 
required of him or her by the Board: 

(a) Books of Account. The Treasurer shall have the custody of all the funds and 
securi�es of the Commission and shall keep and maintain full and accurate accounts of all 
deposits, disbursements, proper�es, and business transac�ons of the Commission. 

(b) Deposits and Disbursements. The Treasurer shall deposit all moneys and 
other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Commission in the depositories 
designated by the Board and shall disburse the funds of the Commission as may be 
ordered by the Board.  

(c) Financial Report. The Treasurer shall render to the Board Chair/President 
and any of the directors of the Commission, at the annual mee�ng of the Board and upon 
request, an account of his or her transac�ons as Treasurer and of the financial condi�on 
of the Commission.  

(d) Inspec�on. The Commission's books of account and records shall be open 
to inspec�on at all reasonable �mes to the Board Chair/President and any of the directors 
or members of the Commission upon request at the principal office of the Commission. 

 Sec�on VII.11 Addi�onal Officers. The Board may from �me to �me appoint 
such addi�onal officers as it shall deem necessary. New offices may be created and filled at any 
mee�ng of the Board. To the fullest extent allowed by law, the Board may prescribe each 
addi�onal officer his or her respec�ve �tle, term of office, authority, and du�es. 

Sec�on VII.12 Compensa�on. The salaries of the Commission's officers, if any, shall be 
fixed from �me to �me by the Board or by such commitee to which the Board has delegated such 
authority. Any officer who is also an employee of a member shall not be eligible to receive a salary 
from the Commission, except that such officers may be reimbursed for actual expenses 
reasonably incurred in the performance of their du�es to the Commission. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, no officer shall be prohibited from receiving compensa�on because the officer is also 
a director of the Commission as long as such compensa�on is permited under Sec�on 5.17 of 
these bylaws. The salaries of all officers shall be just and reasonable and given in return for 
services actually rendered for the Commission and subject to any contract of employment 
between the officer and the Commission. 



14 

Sec�on VII.13 Compensa�on of Certain Officers. The Board, or an authorized commitee 
of the Board shall review and approve the compensa�on, including benefits, of every person, 
regardless of �tle, with the powers, du�es, or responsibili�es of the President, Treasurer, and 
Chief Financial Officer to assure that it is just and reasonable. This review and approval shall occur 
at all of the following �mes: 

(a) Ini�ally upon the hiring of the officer. 

(b) Whenever the term of employment, if any, of the officer is renewed or 
extended. 

(c) Whenever the officer's compensa�on is modified (unless a similar 
modifica�on of compensa�on is applied to all other employees). 

ARTICLE VIII EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS; DEPOSITS 

Sec�on VIII.01 Contracts and Instruments. The Board may authorize any officer or agent 
of the Commission to enter into any contract, to execute and deliver any instrument, or to sign 
checks, dra�s, or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of 
indebtedness in the name of and on behalf of the Commission with a dollar value up to One 
Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00). Such authority may be general or may be confined to specific 
instances. For any contract or instrument exceeding $1,000.00, the Board must approve the 
contract or instrument by a majority of the Board. No instrument required to be signed by more 
than one officer may be signed by one person in more than one capacity. 

Sec�on VIII.02 Deposits. The funds of the Commission shall be deposited in its name with 
such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board, or officers to whom such power 
has been delegated by the Board, may from �me to �me designate. 

Sec�on VIII.03 Budget. An annual budget shall be prepared at the direc�on of the 
President for approval by the Board at its annual mee�ng. 

ARTICLE IX INDEMNIFICATION  

Sec�on IX.01 The Commission shall indemnify a director or other person to the fullest 
extent allowed by applicable law. 

Sec�on IX.02 RESERVED.  

Sec�on IX.03 RESERVED.  

Sec�on IX.04 RESERVED.  

Sec�on IX.05 RESERVED.  

Sec�on IX.06 RESERVED.  



15 

Sec�on IX.07 RESERVED.  

ARTICLE X GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sec�on X.01 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Commission shall be the calendar year 
unless otherwise provided by the Board. 

Sec�on X.02 Corporate Seal. The corporate seal, if any, shall have inscribed thereon the 
name of the Commission, the year of its organiza�on, and the words "Corporate Seal, Nonprofit 
Public Benefit Commission, Missouri." The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof 
to be impressed or affixed or in any manner reproduced. Failure to affix the seal to corporate 
instruments shall not affect the validity of such instruments. 

Sec�on X.03 Books and Records. The Commission shall keep at the principal office of the 
Commission correct and complete books and records of the ac�vi�es and transac�ons of the 
Commission, including the minute book, which shall contain a copy of the Intergovernmental 
Agreement, a copy of these bylaws as amended to date, all resolu�ons of the Board, and all 
minutes of mee�ngs of the Board and commitees thereof. 

Sec�on X.04 Records Reten�on and Destruc�on Policy. In any instance where the 
Commission faces issues related to document reten�on, it shall follow the procedures and rules 
adopted by Resolu�on of the Board. 

Sec�on X.05 RESERVED.  

Sec�on X.06 Annual Returns. The En�re Board shall review and approve the Commission's 
annual filing (if any) with the Internal Revenue Service before it is filed. 

Sec�on X.07 Annual Report; Statements of Transac�ons. The Treasurer or Chief Financial 
Officer shall engage an independent accountant, on behalf of the Commission, that is currently 
under contract to provide services to one of the members to prepare the annual report of the 
Commission. The Board must send the annual report to each director and member not later than 
120 days a�er the close of the Commission's fiscal year. If approved by a majority of the Board, 
the annual report and any accompanying material sent pursuant to this Sec�on 10.07 may be sent 
by electronic transmission by the Commission. The annual report shall contain in appropriate 
detail all of the following: 

(a) The assets and liabili�es, including the trust funds, of the Commission as 
of the end of the fiscal year. 

(b) The principal changes in assets and liabili�es, including trust funds, during 
the fiscal year. 

(c) The revenue or receipts of the Commission, both unrestricted and 
restricted to par�cular purposes, for the fiscal year. 



16 

(d) The expenses or disbursements of the Commission, for both general and 
restricted purposes, during the fiscal year. 

Sec�on X.08 Electronic Signatures. Wherever a writen instrument is required to be 
executed hereunder, an electronic signature, to the extent permited by applicable law, shall be 
deemed to be a writen signature. 

ARTICLE XI (RESERVED) 

ARTICLE XII AMENDMENTS 

 Sec�on XII.01     

(a) The Board may adopt, amend, or repeal bylaws by the affirma�ve vote of 
the majority of the Board except that: 

(i) Such ac�on may not materially and adversely affect the rights of 
the members as to vo�ng and transfer without the approval of the majority of the 
members. 

(ii) Where any corporate ac�on requires a greater vote in these bylaws, 
any amendment or repeal of such provision must be approved by the same greater 
vote. 

(iii) No amendment may extend the term of a director beyond that for 
which the director was elected. 

(iv) Such ac�on shall be authorized at a duly called and held mee�ng of 
the Board for which writen no�ce of such mee�ng, se�ng forth the proposed 
altera�on, is given in accordance with the no�ce provisions for special mee�ngs 
set forth herein. 

(b) The members may adopt, amend, or repeal bylaws by the approval of the 
majority of the members. Such ac�on shall be authorized at a duly called and held mee�ng 
of the members for which writen no�ce of such mee�ng, se�ng forth the proposed 
altera�on, is given in accordance with the no�ce provisions for special mee�ngs set forth 
herein.  

ARTICLE XIII NON-DISCRIMINATION 

Sec�on XIII.01 In all of its dealings, neither the Commission nor its duly authorized agents 
shall discriminate against any individual or group for reasons of race, color, creed, sex, age, 
culture, na�onal origin, marital status, sexual preference, mental or physical handicap, or any 
category protected by state or federal law. 



17 

ARTICLE XIV REFERENCE TO INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

Sec�on XIV.01 References in these bylaws to the Intergovernmental Agreement shall 
include all amendments thereto or changes thereof unless specifically expected by these bylaws. 
In the event of a conflict between the Intergovernmental Agreement and these bylaws, the 
Intergovernmental Agreement shall govern.  

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
The undersigned, Amy Hamilton, hereby cer�fies that she is the duly elected and ac�ng 
Secretary of Central Core Fire Training Center Commission, a statutory, intergovernmental 
Commission, and that the foregoing bylaws were adopted as the bylaws of the Commission as of 
September 18, 2023 and that the same do now cons�tute the bylaws of the Commission.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this cer�ficate on behalf of the 
Commission as of this 18th day of September, 2023. 

CENTRAL CORE FIRE TRAINING CENTER 
COMMISSION 

By: ________________________ 

Name: Amy Hamilton 

Title: Secretary of Commission 



































































 

Central Core Fire Training Center – 2/6/24 

 

  

     

A. Construction Contracts  9/11/2023 11/14/2023 Notes 

1.  Site Prep, Gravel, Footings, Flatwork  $           200,000 $          200,000  

2.  Training Tower, Props & Equipment  $           900,662 $          900,662  

3.  Support Space - Restrooms & Outdoor Classrooms  $          280,250  

4.  Contingency (9/11/23 – 14.2%; 11/14/23 – 15.3%)  $           157,238 $          199,938  

  $                      -   

Sub-Total  $     1,257,900 $     1,580,850  

     

B.  Permits  $             15,000 $            15,000  

Sub-Total  $          15,000 $          15,000  

     

D.  Professional Services - Design, Survey, Project 

Management, Material Testing, Etc. 
    

1.  Site Analysis (Phase I, Phase II, etc.)  $                      - $                  -  

2.  Environmental Consultants  $                      - $                  -  

3.  Survey  $               4,000 $              4,000  

4.  Geotechnical  $             10,000 $            12,500  

5.  Civil Engineering  $             30,000 $            30,000  

6.  Programming  $                      - $                  -  

7a.  Project Manager / Owner Rep - Preconstruction  $             40,000 $            40,000  

7b. Project Manager/ Owner Rep - Construction  $             57,000 $            57,000  

8.  Architectural Design Fees  $             75,474 $          126,468  

9.  Materials Testing  $             10,000 $            10,000  

  $                      - $                  -  

Sub-Total  $        226,474 $        279,968  

     

E.  Technology     

F.  Land Acquisition     

G.  Financing     

H.  Miscellaneous Costs - Printing & Bid Ad  $                  500 $                 500  

     

Sub-Total of A - H  $     1,499,874 $     1,876,318  

     

OWNER'S PROGRAM BUDGET  $     1,499,874 $     1,876,318  

     

BUDGET  $     1,500,000 $     1,877,365  

     OVER/(UNDER)  $               126 $            1,047  



January February March April May June July August September October November December

Professional Services/ Permits Start 8,000$        20,250$        32,750$  20,250$    20,250$    20,250$   20,250$   20,250$  

Bid Procurement of GC

January February March April May June July August September October November December

Professional Services/ Permits 25,250$                  16,156$         12,156$         7,406$   7,406$        7,156$          7,156$    9,656$      9,656$      9,656$     9,656$     7,156$    

Construction/ Contingency 450,331$       -$       -$            60,031$        60,031$  93,354$    93,354$    93,354$   93,354$   93,354$  

January February March April May June July August September October November December

Professional Services/ Permits 4,750$                    

Construction/ Contingency 318,519.75$           225,165.50$  -$              

2026

Construction

Bid Tower

2025

Central Core Fire Training Center - Cash Flow Projection

Procurement/ Design/ Permitting GC Onsite Work/ Tower Installation

2024

Procurement/ Design/ Permitting



 R E S O L U T I O N      R24- 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, 
APPOINTING AMBER WITHYCOMBE AS THE CITY REPRESENTATIVE TO THE SUNNEN 
STATION COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT AS DIRECTOR REPLACING MICHAEL 
REESE WITH A TERM EXPIRING SEPTEMBER 26, 2024, ALONG WITH AN ADDITIONAL FOUR-
YEAR TERM EXPIRING SEPTEMBER 26, 2028;  AND APPOINTING SUSAN BRASEL AS 
DIRECTOR REPLACING ROBERT LUDWIG WITH A TERM EXPIRING SEPTEMBER 26, 2024, 
ALONG WITH AN ADDITIONAL FOUR-YEAR TERM EXPIRING SEPTEMBER 28, 2028; AND 
APPOINTING KURT KALLAUS AS DIRECTOR REPLACING CHRIS MILTENBERGER WITH A 
TERM EXPIRING SEPTEMBER 26, 2026;  AND ALSO APPOINTING RICHARD KALLAUS TO AN 
ADDITIONAL TERM EXPIRING SEPTEMBER 26, 2028. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, 
MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS:  Amber Withycombe is hereby appointed to the Sunnen Station 
Community Improvement District as the city representative replacing Michael Reese with a term 
expiring September 26, 2024, along with an additional term expiring September 26, 2028; and 
appointing Susan Brasel as a property owner representative replacing Robert Ludwig with a term 
expiring September 26, 2024, along with an additional term expiring September 26, 2028; and 
appointing Kurt Kallaus as a property owner representative replacing Chris Miltenberger with a 
term expiring September 26, 2026; and appointing Richard Kallaus as a property owner 
representative to an additional term expiring September 26, 2028. 

 
 
 
Passed this 13th day of February, 2024 
 

                               
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest: 

                                
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 

 
 
Approved this 13th day of February, 2024 
 

                                
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest: 

                                
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 
 

 
 



BILL NO.                                                                               ORDINANCE NO.  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE VII. – BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND AUTHORITIES 
TO ADD A NEW DIVISION 4. – CODE OF ETHICS, FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
ESTABLISHING A CODE OF ETHICS FOR APPOINTED MEMBERS OF THE BOARDS 
AND COMMISSIONS CREATED BY THE CODE OF ORDINANCES   
 
 WHEREAS, it is the policy of the City of Maplewood, Missouri to uphold, promote, and 
demand ethical conduct from its elected and appointed public officials for the purpose of ensuring 
a fair, ethical, and accountable local government; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes the importance of codifying and making known 
to the general public the ethical principles that guide the work of its elected and appointed public 
officials; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to establish a code of ethics for appointed members 
of the City’s boards and commission.   
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Section I.   Chapter 2 – Administration, Article VII. – Boards, Commissions and Authorities, 

of the Code of Ordinances is hereby amended to add a new Division 4. – CODE OF ETHICS, as 
follows:  

 
DIVISION 4. – CODE OF ETHICS  
 
Sec. 2-500. Conduct of Appointed Members of the City’s Boards and Commissions.  
  
Appointed members of the City’s boards and commissions shall be committed to promoting 

the highest standards of conduct in public service and shall adhere to the following code of conduct:  
 
(1) Commitment to Public Service:  Members shall serve the community with 

dedication, placing the interests of the municipality and its residents above personal 
or private interests. 

 
(2) Integrity and Honesty:  Members shall act with honesty and integrity, avoiding 

conflicts of interest and disclosing any potential conflicts promptly. They shall not 
use their position for personal gain. 

 
(3) Transparency:  Members shall conduct their duties in an open and transparent 

manner, providing accurate and timely information to the public. They shall comply 
with all applicable open meeting laws and regulations. 

 
(4) Fair and Impartial Decision-Making:  Members shall make decisions without bias, 

considering the best interests of the entire community. They shall avoid favoritism 
and treat all individuals and groups fairly. 

 



 
 
 

(5) Confidentiality:  Members shall respect the confidentiality of sensitive information 
discussed during board and commission meetings. They shall not disclose 
confidential information without proper authorization. 

 
(6) Respect and Professionalism:  Members shall treat fellow board and commission 

members, municipal staff, and the public with respect and professionalism. They 
shall foster a collaborative and inclusive environment. 

 
(7) Community Engagement:  Members shall actively engage with the community, 

seeking input and feedback, and representing the diverse interests and needs of the 
residents. 

 
(8) Compliance with Laws and Policies:  Members shall comply with all applicable 

laws, regulations, and municipal policies. They shall seek guidance when unsure 
about the ethical implications of a situation. 

 
Sec. 2-501. – Compliance and Enforcement.   
 
(1) Any person may file a written complaint alleging a violation of this Code of Ethics 

within 30 days of the alleged violation. Complaints should be submitted to the 
Mayor, who will (upon receipt) assemble an ethics review committee for 
investigation of the complaint. 

 
(2) The ethics review committee shall be responsible for overseeing compliance with 

this Code of Ethics and shall be made up of the senior councilmember from each 
ward. If the senior councilmember is involved in the complaint, the junior 
councilmember of the same ward shall take their place on the committee. 

 
(3) The ethics review committee shall promptly initiate an impartial investigation of 

the complaint by reviewing the evidence and conducting interviews. The accused 
board or commission member shall have the opportunity to respond to the 
allegations and present evidence during the investigation. 

 
(4) After a thorough investigation, the ethics review committee shall issue a 

recommendation for dismissal of the complaint or a recommendation that the 
complaint is substantiated along with appropriate disciplinary action.  Disciplinary 
action may include, but is not limited to, written reprimands, suspension, or 
removal from the board or commission.  The recommendation of the ethics review 
committee is binding unless appealed. 

 
(5) Board and commission members found in violation of the code of ethics by the 

ethics review committee shall have the right to appeal the decision to the full 
council for a public hearing.  Appeals must be submitted to council in writing within 
five days of receiving the decision of the ethics review committee.  The decision of 
the council shall be final and binding. 

 



 
(6) To the extent possible, the ethics review committee and council shall maintain the 

confidentiality of the complaint, investigation, and any subsequent disciplinary 
proceedings, consistent with all applicable laws. 
 

Section II. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect fifteen (15) days after its 
 passage and approval.   
 
 
Passed this 13th day of February, 2024 
 

______________________________ 
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor  

 
Attest:______________________________ 

Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved 13th day of February, 2024 
 

______________________________ 
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor  

 
Attest:______________________________ 

Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 
 



                                                                                                                       

INTEROFFICE 
MEMORANDUM 

__________________________________________________________ 
 

To: Mayor and City Council 

From: Anthony Traxler, Assistant City Manager/Director of Public Works 

Date: January 16, 2024 

Subject: Program Agreement – Consolidation of Great Rivers Greenway’s Pedestrian Trail 
Project and the City of Maplewood’s Reconstruction of Greenwood Boulevard Road 
Project 

 
Attached is an ordinance authorizing the City Manager to approve the attached MODOT program 
agreement that consolidates Great Rivers Greenway’s pedestrian trail project and Maplewood’s 
Greenwood Boulevard Road Project STP/CMAQ-9901 (667). The agreement stipulates that 
Maplewood will “be responsible for all aspects of construction” for the pedestrian trail and road 
improvements along Greenwood Boulevard, from Sussex Avenue to Canterbury Avenue.  Note, 
Great Rivers Greenway will still be responsible for construction of the pedestrian trail along 
Oxford, Sussex and Canterbury Avenues.   
 
This program agreement will provide city staff with oversight and control of this construction 
project which will no doubt be disruptive to Greenwood Boulevard and the surrounding area.  
Approval of the program agreement also affirms the City of Maplewood’s previously approved 
Resolution 23-68 (copy attached).   
 
Please review the attached ordinance and program agreement and do not hesitate to contact me at 
646-3635 if you have any questions, comments or concerns on this matter. 
 

 



 
BILL NO.                                                    ORDINANCE NO.  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN STP-URBAN PROGRAM 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION AND THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD FOR PROJECT NUMBER STP/CMAQ-
9901 (667) FOR GREENWOOD BOULEVARD 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section I. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute an STP-Urban Program 
Agreement between the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission and the City of 
Maplewood for project number STP/CMAQ-9901 (667), for Greenwood Boulevard.  
 

Section II.       This ordinance shall be in full force and effect fifteen (15) days after its 
passage and approval. 
 
 
 
Passed this 13th day of February 2024 
 

                                            
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest: 

                                            
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 

 
 
Approved this 13th day of February 2024 
 

                                            
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest: 

                                            
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 













































                                                                                                                       

INTEROFFICE 
MEMORANDUM 

__________________________________________________________ 
 

To: Planning Commission 

From: Anthony Traxler, Assistant City Manager/Director of Public Works 

Date: January 25, 2024 

Subject: Petition Number #2024-1 – Request for a Conditional Use Permit in the AB 
Arterial Business Zoning District – Revel Kitchen – 7520 Manchester Road  

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The subject property (site), 7520 Manchester Road, is currently vacant but historically supported 
a Jack in the Box restaurant facility with a drive through.  Jack in the Box operated at this site for 
decades but closed the restaurant a couple of years ago and the site has been vacant since.     
 
ZONING REQUEST 
 
The petitioner, Simon Lusky of Revel Kitchen, is requesting a Conditional Use Permit to allow a 
restaurant facility with drive through.    
 
Approval of this request, if granted by the Plan and Zoning Commission and the City Council, 
would bring this site into conformance with the Zoning Code of the City of Maplewood. 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING ISSUES 
 
1. Proposed Use:  The site is zoned AB Arterial Business District.  Restaurants are permitted 

uses in the AB District.  However, restaurants with a drive through require a Conditional Use 
Permit.  Revel Kitchen offers a variety of fresh locally-sourced, organic menu items.   The 
proposed use is ideally suited for this location which has historically supported a fast food 
restaurant.  The proposed use will have a drive through window which is unique for a 
restaurant that offers healthier food options.  Patrons will also be able to utilize outdoor 
seating which will be installed along the front of the restaurant (see attached photo).  Hours 
of operation will be from 10:30 a.m. to 9 p.m.  

 
2. Parking:  The site has 10 off-street parking spaces.  The restaurant will have 16 indoor seats, 

11 patio seats (27 parking spaces total) and between 4 to 6 employees.  Therefore, the zoning 
ordinance requires 13 off-street parking spaces be provided which is 3 spaces short.  However, 
the petitioner signed a shared parking agreement with the nearby Kenrick Design Construction 

 



Company, 7552 Manchester Road, which meets the requirements of Sec. 56-498, Location of 
Parking Spaces (shared parking), of the zoning ordinance.   Therefore, sufficient off-street 
parking will be provided for the proposed use.   
 

3. Impact to Adjacent Properties:  The proposed use should have a little to no impact on 
adjacent and surrounding properties.  For decades the site supported a fast food restaurant that 
was open 24 hours a day 7 days a week.  Having the site occupied again by a restaurant that 
offers unique, healthier food options should be a benefit to the neighborhood and the City of 
Maplewood. 

 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT STANDARDS FOR APPROVAL 
 
In presenting any application for a Conditional Use Permit, the petitioner must demonstrate that 
the proposed conditional use meets the “Standards for Approval” criteria set forth in Section 56-
877, Procedures for a Conditional Use Permit, of the Zoning Code (copy attached).  
 
FINDING: 
 
Staff recommends approval, subject to the conditions contained in the attached draft ordinance, 
based on the following findings of fact:  
  
1) The scale and intensity for the proposed use is compatible with adjacent and surrounding 

properties. 
  
2) This restaurant will be a net gain for the Maplewood business community and will expand 

dining options within the City of Maplewood.  
          
3) The petitioner obtained a shared parking agreement to provide ample off-street parking to 

support the proposed use. 
 
4) The proposed conditional use, at the above location, will contribute to and promote the welfare 

and convenience of the public by providing an additional restaurant for the community and 
surrounding area. 

 
 
 
 
 







BILL NO.                                                ORDINANCE NO.  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, 
GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO SIMON LUSKY OF REVEL KITCHEN TO 
OPERATE A RESTAURANT WITH DRIVE THROUGH AT 7520 MANCHESTER ROAD 
 

WHEREAS, Simon Lusky of Revel Kitchen has applied to the City Council of the City of 
Maplewood, Missouri for a Conditional Use Permit as provided in Section 56-877 of the 
Maplewood Code of Ordinances, to operate a restaurant with drive through at 7520 Manchester 
Road; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Plan and Zoning Commission recommended approval of this proposed 
Conditional Use Permit at their February 5, 2024 meeting by a vote of 5 ayes, 0 nays; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on this Conditional Use Permit at their 
February 13, 2024 Council meeting. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section I. Simon Lusky of Revel Kitchen is requesting a Conditional Use Permit to 
operate a restaurant with drive through at 7520 Manchester Road. 
 

Section II. The Conditional Use Permit is granted subject to all rules and regulations 
and to conditions set forth for the property described in Section I. as follows: 
 

(A) Permitted Use - A restaurant facility with drive through. 
 

(B) Parking Requirements – One off-street parking space shall be provided for 
every three seats for patrons and two parking spaces shall be provided for 
every three employees at maximum shift. 

 
(C) Architectural Standards/Sign Requirements:  Any exterior changes to the 

building and/or signage must be approved by the Design and Review Board 
prior to the issuance of a building permit.  All non-conforming signage 
must be removed prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit/business 
license. 

 
(D) The outdoor seating area must have a barrier between the seating area and 

drive through lane.  The barrier must be a minimum of 36 inches high. 
 

(E) Exterior Storage of Materials: No outside storage of materials will be 
permitted. 

 
Section III.       This ordinance shall be in full force and effect fifteen (15) days after its 

passage and approval. 



Passed this 13th day of February 2024 
         
       __________________________ 

Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 
 
Attest:  

__________________________ 
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 

 
 

Approved this 13th day of February 2024 
 

__________________________ 
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest:  

__________________________ 
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 



                                                                                                                       

INTEROFFICE 
MEMORANDUM 

__________________________________________________________ 
 

 

To: Planning Commission 

From: Anthony Traxler, Assistant City Manager/Director of Public Works 

Date: February 1, 2024 

Subject: Petition Number #2024-2 – Request for a Conditional Use Permit in the AB 
Arterial Business Zoning District – VR Wholesale International LLC., 2800-2804 
S. Big Bend Blvd. & 7480 Hazel Avenue  

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The subject properties (site), 2800-2804 S. Big Bend Blvd. & 7480 Hazel Avenue, are located on 
the northeast corner of Big Bend Blvd. and Hazel Avenue.  Each lot is zoned AB Arterial Business 
District and have historically supported the business operations of Big Bend Auto Sales & Repair 
and a small dog grooming business.  The site is fully developed supporting a small one-story brick 
building (2800 S. Big Bend Blvd.) and a separate auto repair building (2804 S. Big Bend Blvd.).   
 
Big Bend Auto Sales & Repair have operated on this site for many decades.  A variety of smaller 
retail uses occupied the small brick structure to the north of the site.  The owners of the site have 
sold both lots and the new owners are planning on continuing the auto sales & repair business.  
The dog groomer is closing in February and this small brick building will serve as an office for 
VR Wholesale International LLC.      
  
ZONING REQUEST 
 
The petitioner, Volodymyr Ratai, is requesting to operate the auto sales and repair facility in its 
present format.  Typically, a transfer of the governing Conditional Use Permit would address the 
zoning request.  However, the exiting business has been in operation for so long that the use likely 
pre-dated existing zoning regulations.  Therefore, a Conditional Use Permit to continue the auto 
sales & repair business operations on the subject properties will need to be approved.    
  
Approval of this request, if granted by the Plan and Zoning Commission and the City Council, 
would bring this property into conformance with the Zoning Code of the City of Maplewood. 
 
 
 

 



PLANNING AND ZONING ISSUES 
 
1. Proposed Use:  The subject properties are zoned AB Arterial Business District which allows 

auto sales & repair uses with a Conditional Use Permit.  The site contains two structures; a 
small brick structure at 2800 S. Big Bend Blvd. (former groomer) and 2804 S. Big Bend Blvd. 
(auto repair building).  The northern portion of 7480 Hazel Avenue is used for employee and 
patron parking and the southern portion of 7480 Hazel Avenue is used for the storage of vehicles 
under repair and overflow of vehicles for sale.   
 

2. Parking:  The site is small and there is little room to maneuver with the vehicles for sale/repair 
and patron vehicles.  Staff visited the site on numerous occasions to determine the number of 
vehicles that could be sold on-site without compromising sight-distance safety at intersections 
or have vehicles spill over onto the adjacent public right-of-way.   
 
The conditional use will limit the number of vehicles for sale to a maximum of fifteen (15) 
vehicles.  This figure is consistent with prior aerial photos and the approximate number of 
vehicles that have been for sale during my visits.  Without this cap, it is likely vehicles would 
be blocking the view of people exiting Hazel Avenue and the Hazel Alley onto Big Bend Blvd.  
Because the conditional use ordinance will cap the total number of vehicles for sale, the site has 
sufficient parking to support the proposed uses on-site.   

 
3. Impact to Adjacent Properties:  There should not be a significant impact on the adjacent 

properties as this location has supported a car sale & repair facility for decades.  This location 
has not caused problems for the surrounding businesses or neighborhood and the conditional 
use ordinance will cap the number of vehicles for sale to ensure this business does not spill over 
onto the adjacent public right-of-way or block views from vehicles trying to exit onto Big Bend 
Blvd.  UPDATE OF NOTE, at the February 5th Plan and Zoning Commission meeting, two 
residents voiced concerns regarding auto sale and repair vehicles blocking the Hazel Avenue 
and Maple Avenue alley.  The residents stated they dealt with this for many years but did not 
reach out to the City for help. This concern was discussed and the residents will forward these 
concerns to the City for enforcement action if this continues to be a problem. 

 
Currently the patron/employee parking lot on the northern portion of 7480 Hazel Avenue is 
only partially screened from the adjacent residential property at 7478 Hazel Avenue.  The 
Conditional Use Permit will require either the existing fence be extended and/or an evergreen 
planting buffer be installed to properly screen this entire parking lot from the adjacent 
residential structure at 7478 Hazel Avenue. 
 

4. Lighting:  A common complaint of car sales is excessive lighting.  Therefore, the conditional 
use ordinance will require lighting be maintained so that the effects of direct lighting or glare 
onto adjacent properties shall be prohibited.   
 

5. Auto Repair Restrictions:  A common complaint of auto repair facilities is vehicle repairs 
and storage of parts outside of the service bay areas.  Therefore, the conditional use ordinance 
will require that all auto repairs must be performed within the designated service bays.   
 



CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT STANDARDS FOR APPROVAL 
 
In presenting any application for a Conditional Use Permit, the petitioner must demonstrate that 
the proposed conditional use meets the “Standards for Approval” criteria set forth in Section 56-
877, Procedures for a Conditional Use Permit, of the Zoning Code (copy attached).  
 
FINDING: 
 
Staff recommends approval, subject to the conditions contained in the attached draft ordinance, 
based on the following findings of fact:   
  
1) The scale and intensity for the proposed uses should be compatible with adjacent and 

surrounding properties. 
  
2) The site has supported a car sale & repair facility for decades.  
          
3) Parking is available to support employee/patron parking demand for the proposed businesses. 

 
4) An enclosed vehicle storage yard is provided for automobiles under repair. 
 
5) The proposed conditional use, at the above location, will contribute to and promote the welfare 

and convenience of the public by providing an auto sales & repair facility for the community 
and surrounding area. 

 
 
 
 
 







BILL NO.                                                ORDINANCE NO.   
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, 
GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO VOLODYMYR RATAI OF VR 
WHOLESALE INTERNATIONAL LLC TO OPERATE AN AUTO SALES AND REPAIR 
FACILITY AT 2800-2804 S. BIG BEND BOULEVARD AND 7480 HAZEL AVENUE 
 

WHEREAS, Volodymyr Ratai of VR Wholesale LLC. has applied to the City Council of 
the City of Maplewood, Missouri for a Conditional Use Permit as provided in Section 56-877 of 
the Maplewood Code of Ordinances, to operate an auto sales and repair facility at 2800-2804 S. 
Big Bend Boulevard and parking area for the aforementioned auto sales and repair facility at 7480 
Hazel Avenue; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Plan and Zoning Commission recommended approval of this proposed 
Conditional Use Permit at their February 5, 2024 meeting by a vote of 5 ayes, 0 nays; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on this Conditional Use Permit at their 
February 13, 2024 Council meeting. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MAPLEWOOD, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section I. Volodymyr Ratai of VR Wholesale LLC. is requesting a Conditional Use 
Permit to operate an auto sales and repair facility at 2800-2804 S. Big Bend Boulevard and parking 
area for the aforementioned auto sales and repair facility at 7480 Hazel Avenue. 
 

Section II. The Conditional Use Permit is granted subject to all rules and regulations 
and to conditions set forth for the property described in Section I. as follows: 
 

(A) Permitted Uses. 
 
a. New and Used Auto Sales not to exceed fifteen (15) cars for sale. 

 
b. Auto Repair. 
 

(B) Parking Requirements. 
 

a. Patrons and employees shall park on the parking lot located on the northern 
portion of 7480 Hazel Avenue, directly behind 2800 S. Big Bend 
Boulevard.  No vehicles for sale or repair may be located on this parking 
lot.   
 

b. Vehicles under repair must be stored on the southern portion of 7480 Hazel, 
directly behind 2804 S. Big Bend Boulevard within the enclosed parking 
lot.   

 



 
(C) Visibility at Intersections – Vehicles shall not be located on any corner in 

such a manner as to materially obstruct or impede vision at the centerline 
grades of the intersection of S. Big Bend Boulevard and Hazel Avenue and 
S. Big Bend Boulevard and the Hazel Avenue and Maple Avenue alley in 
the area bounded by the street lines of such corner lots and a line joining 
points along said street lines 12 feet from the point of the intersection. 
 

(D) Lighting – Lighting shall be designed in accordance with Illuminating 
Engineering Society standards and shall be maintained so that the effects of 
direct lighting or glare onto adjacent properties is prohibited.   

 
(E) Screening/Buffers from Residential Properties. 

 
a. The vehicle storage area on the southern portion of 7480 Hazel Avenue, 

directly behind 2804 S. Big Bend Boulevard must have a minimum 
eight (8) foot sight-proof fence surrounding the entire vehicle storage 
parking lot.  
  

b. Vehicles parking in the patron and employee parking lot located on the 
northern portion of 7480 Hazel Avenue, directly behind 2800 S. Big 
Bend Boulevard shall be completely screened from view of 7478 Hazel 
Avenue with either a six to eight-foot sight-proof fence or cluster of 
evergreen plantings or both.  Said sight-proof fence and/or cluster of 
evergreen plantings shall be subject to the review and approval of the 
Zoning Administrator. 

 
(F) Architectural Standards/Sign Requirements -  Any exterior changes to the 

building and/or signage must be approved by the Design and Review Board 
prior to the issuance of a building permit.  All non-conforming signage 
must be removed prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit/business 
license. 

 
(G) Exterior Material Storage and Exterior Repair Requirements - No outside 

storage of materials or auto parts will be permitted.  All auto repairs must 
be performed within the enclosed structure at 2804 S. Big Bend Boulevard. 

 
Section III.       This ordinance shall be in full force and effect fifteen (15) days after its 

passage and approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Passed this 13th day of February, 2024 

_______________________ 
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest: 

__________________________ 
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 

 
 

Approved this 13th day of February, 2024 
 

_______________________ 
Nikylan Knapper, Mayor 

 
Attest: 
 

__________________________ 
Andrea Majoros, City Clerk 
 



Memorandum 
 
To: Mayor & City Council 
From: Amber Withycombe, City Manager 
Date: February 7, 2024 
Re: City Manager’s Report 
 
 
Budget Calendar  
Our timeline for the FY25-29 budget process appears below. In contrast to prior years, staff will 
now be producing a five-year financial forecast to better assist the city in meeting its 
commitments, obligations, and anticipated needs. This model will also allow the Council to make 
more informed decisions about the development and implementation of strategic priorities. 
 

Timeline 
• Feb. 12 – 23: City Manager meets with Department Heads to discuss five-year 

priorities 
• Feb. 27: Council work session to present and discuss priorities 
• Mar. 15: Staff submits budget drafts to Finance Director 
• Mar. 29: Finance Director completes revenue projections 
• Apr. 4: Finance Director sends consolidated budget to City Manager 
• Apr. 11 – 22: City Manager reviews consolidated budget with Department Heads 
• May 1: City Manager submits consolidated budget to Council 
• May 7, 8, 9: Council work sessions to review budget 
• May 14: Public hearing and 1st and 2nd budget ordinance readings 
• May 28: Final ordinance reading 

 
In advance of the Feb. 27 budget priorities work session, Councilmembers can review the FY23 
adopted budget at 
https://cms7files1.revize.com/cityofmaplewoodmo/Document_center/Department/Finance/2023-
24%20Revenues%20&%20Consolidated%20Budget%20Packet%20Final.pdf 
 
Proposition J & S Open Houses 
The city will be hosting two open house events to answer questions and provide information 
about Propositions J and S, which will be on the ballot for the April 2, 2024, election. 
Information shared at the open houses will also be available on the city’s website at 
https://www.cityofmaplewood.com/government/prop_j_and_prop_s.php. Both open house 
sessions will be hosted in Council Chambers at City Hall: 
 

• Thursday, February 29 from 7 – 9 pm 
• Tuesday, March 5 from 3 – 5 pm 

 
  

https://cms7files1.revize.com/cityofmaplewoodmo/Document_center/Department/Finance/2023-24%20Revenues%20&%20Consolidated%20Budget%20Packet%20Final.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/cityofmaplewoodmo/Document_center/Department/Finance/2023-24%20Revenues%20&%20Consolidated%20Budget%20Packet%20Final.pdf
https://www.cityofmaplewood.com/government/prop_j_and_prop_s.php


Council Retreat 
We are organizing a Council retreat work session to develop norms and protocols for the 
Council, collect feedback to strengthen the Council’s onboarding process, provide refresher 
training on Missouri’s Sunshine Law, and formalize a Council communications and engagement 
plan. Based on Council feedback, the retreat has been scheduled for Sunday, March 3 from 9 
am to noon in Council Chambers. I will provide more details about the retreat agenda as the 
date grows closer. As a reminder, any Council meeting in which a quorum is present is 
considered a public meeting. 

Board & Commission 2024 Report Schedule 
The following schedule has been established for Board and Commission chairs to update the 
Council regarding the activities of each appointed body: 
 
Date Board/Commission Chair  Staff Liaison 
March 12 Special Business District 

Tax Advisory Commission 
August Schlafly Laura Miller  

May 14 Plan & Zoning Commission Kevin Sullivan Anthony Traxler 
June 11 Design & Review 

Board/Historic Preservation 
Commission  

Sean O’Gorman
  

Brian Herr 

July 9 Human Services 
Commission 

Amber Schanter
  

Amber Withycombe 

August 13 Parks & Recreation 
Commission 

Laine Schenkelberg Tiffany Hyde 

September 10 Sustainability Commission Stefan Denson  Charles Moody 
October 8 Library Board Martin Brenner

  
Ashley Bryant 

November 12 Board of Adjustment Patrick Jugo Brian Herr 
 
 
St. Louis County Housing Report Update 
Regarding the Council’s January 9 work session discussion about housing at the St. Louis 
County jail, I will be presenting an update to Council on February 27 regarding the steps that 
courts and city staff are taking to address the Council’s concerns. 
 
Business Watch Meeting 
As a service to Maplewood business owners, the city will be hosting a Business Watch meeting 
in March. These meetings are intended to help business owners build their network of 
connections within the business community, help businesses prevent fraud and theft, provide tips 
for protecting property, and foster closer relationships between the Maplewood Police 
Department and the community it serves. Details about the date and location of the meeting will 
be forthcoming. More information about the program is available at 
https://www.cityofmaplewood.com/government/departments/police_department/programs_and_r
esources/business_watch.php 
 
 

https://www.cityofmaplewood.com/government/departments/police_department/programs_and_resources/business_watch.php
https://www.cityofmaplewood.com/government/departments/police_department/programs_and_resources/business_watch.php


2023 Social Services Report 
The enclosed social services report summarizes the 2023 impact of the social services 
coordinator, Audrey Culberson. The position is jointly funded by Maplewood and Richmond 
Heights to address needs related to crisis, community, and connections through case management 
and emergency support. Service referrals come from Maplewood, Richmond Heights, the MRH 
school district, and the United Way. 
 
Ripple Glass Bin  
See the enclosed memo from Laura Miller, Director of Community Development, regarding a 
new glass recycling service that will be offered the Marietta Parking Lot. The bin will be 
available for use by businesses and residents, and will be installed by February 15. 
 
Staff Milestones & Celebrations 
The city recently welcomed two new employees: Ronald Atkins, police officer, and Justin 
McCague, public works maintenance worker. Joe Lemberger, housing inspector, celebrated his 
fifth anniversary as a city employee. 
 



In the first year, 98 community
members were assisted with
obtaining:

Shelter 
Food 
Clothing 
Identification
Permanent housing 
Mental health support 
Wellness Checks

In addition to providing
short-term case management
to 98 community members,  
the social services
coordinator attends monthly
and weekly meetings like the
Yale group, the Human
Services Commission Board,
and host Mutual aid group.
Also, the social services
coordinator provides crisis
intervention support and
resources to the police
department, library, and the
Heights for individuals who
may need immediate
assistance and redirect
outside of short-term case
management

 REPORT
Social Services

OVERVIEW

53 of these 98 members were referrals from the

Maplewood Community.

29 referrals from Maplewood PD

Unhoused concerns

Crisis intervention

Mental Health

Food and clothing insecurities

3 referrals from Maplewood Fire Dept.

House fire

Safety concerns/ fall risk

21 referrals from the Maplewood community

Landlord concerns

Food insecurity

Utility Support

Shelter

The social services coordinator provided crisis

intervention, resources, and case management to

the community members that required this

specific support. In addition, to connecting them

to outside services and agencies like Loaves and

Fishes, Legal Aid, BJC, Salvation Army, Maplewood

United Methodist Church, and city resources.  

Maplewood



34 of these 98 members were referrals from the Richmond Heights community.

5 referrals from the Heights 

 Unhoused 

Senior Concerns 

22 referrals from the community

Housing concerns or accessing benefits 

Hoarding 

Seniors concerns about aging in place/ Private Duty 

7 referrals from the Richmond Heights PD. 

Unhoused 

Mental Health concerns 

The services coordinator connected these community members to larger social

services systems like BJC Behavioral Health, Places for People, Saint Vincent

DePaul, Saint Elizabeth, and A&W Home Healthcare.  In addition to using the

emergency funds provided by Richmond Heights and Maplewood. 

8 of these 98 members were referrals from the MRH School District.

Families in transition

 Behavioral Concern

Referrals 

Utility assistance 

The social services coordinator assisted these families with getting connected with

resources to assist with utility aid and behavioral concerns. The city’s emergency fund

aided and supported these families with getting out of their immediate crisis. 

Richmond Heights

Maplewood Richmond
Heights School District



In addition to supporting these 98 calls to a crisis, the social services
coordinator engaged in community support with about 15 individuals
in the community parks, the Heights, and the local bus stops. These
individuals were a challenge to track because they refused to share
prescreening information. However, resources and support were
provided if necessary. The number of referrals in the Richmond
Heights area has increased by more than half in the last six months of
the 2023 year. The social services coordinator attended community
events like Bingo, Bunny Brunch, Park Passport events,  Let the Eat
Art, and an Active Adult Lunch Brunch.

The overall goal for the first year was the 3 C's (crisis, community, and
connections). The social services coordinator responded to the
community crisis with a community approach and then connected the
resident to a larger ecosystem.  

The social services coordinator also created one new partnership with 
Home Sweet Home, and has gained access to additional emergency
funds through Maplewood United Methodist Church. Maplewood
UMC agreed to partner with the City to support residents in crisis. 

3 of these 98 members were referrals from United Way.

Families in transition

Utility assistance 

The social services coordinator received these referrals from United Way. The

community members were looking for utility assistance. These referrals were mainly

seniors affected by the property tax increase. 

United Way

SUMMARY














	0 _ 2-13-2024 Council agenda
	1 _ 2024 Reallocation Block Grants
	1b _ PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE - Revel Kitchen 7520 Manchester RESIDENT
	1c _ PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE - VR Wholesale International Car Sale  Repair 2804 Big Bend RESIDENT
	2 _ Jan 9 Minutes
	3 _ 2022 CDBG Sidewalk Reallocation Memo
	4 _ 2022 CDBG Sidewalk Reallocation Resolution
	5_Central Core Fire Training Commission IGA memo
	6 _ Resolution IGA for Central Core Fire Center Training Commission
	Exhibit A Intergovernmental Agreement Attached

	7 _ CCFTC - IGA
	Central Core Fire Training Center Commission Intergovernmental Agreement
	Purpose

	8 _ Central Core Training Division Bylaws (clean with signature page)
	ARTICLE I NAME
	ARTICLE II OFFICES
	ARTICLE III PURPOSE
	ARTICLE IV MEMBERS
	ARTICLE V BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	ARTICLE VI COMMITTEES
	ARTICLE VII OFFICERS
	ARTICLE VIII EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS; DEPOSITS
	ARTICLE IX INDEMNIFICATION
	ARTICLE X GENERAL PROVISIONS
	ARTICLE XII AMENDMENTS
	ARTICLE XIII NON-DISCRIMINATION
	ARTICLE XIV REFERENCE TO INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT
	[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]


	9 _ Fire - Carr Lane Fire Training Facility lease fully executed
	10 _ Fire - Clayton ARPA Training Tower Application
	11 _ Central Core Fire Training Center - TPB - 2-6-24
	12 _ Central Core Fire Training Center - Cash Flow Projection 2-6-24
	13 _ Resolution - Sunnen Station CID
	14 _ Boards and Commissions Code of Ethics Ordinance
	15 _ MODOT Program Agreement Amendment to Include CMAQ- Greenwood Memo
	16 _ MODOT Program Agreement Amendment to Include CMAQ- Greenwood Ordinance
	17 _ STP PROGRAM
	18 _ Revel Kitchen 7520 Manchester Staff Report
	2. Parking:  The site has 10 off-street parking spaces.  The restaurant will have 16 indoor seats, 11 patio seats (27 parking spaces total) and between 4 to 6 employees.  Therefore, the zoning ordinance requires 13 off-street parking spaces be provide...
	3. Impact to Adjacent Properties:  The proposed use should have a little to no impact on adjacent and surrounding properties.  For decades the site supported a fast food restaurant that was open 24 hours a day 7 days a week.  Having the site occupied ...
	1) The scale and intensity for the proposed use is compatible with adjacent and surrounding properties.
	2) This restaurant will be a net gain for the Maplewood business community and will expand dining options within the City of Maplewood.
	3) The petitioner obtained a shared parking agreement to provide ample off-street parking to support the proposed use.
	4) The proposed conditional use, at the above location, will contribute to and promote the welfare and convenience of the public by providing an additional restaurant for the community and surrounding area.

	18b _ Revel Kitchen illustrations
	19 _ Revel Kitchen 7520 Manchester Ordinance
	20 _ VR Wholesale Auto Sales and Repair 2804 Big Bend
	2. Parking:  The site is small and there is little room to maneuver with the vehicles for sale/repair and patron vehicles.  Staff visited the site on numerous occasions to determine the number of vehicles that could be sold on-site without compromisin...
	The conditional use will limit the number of vehicles for sale to a maximum of fifteen (15) vehicles.  This figure is consistent with prior aerial photos and the approximate number of vehicles that have been for sale during my visits.  Without this ca...
	3. Impact to Adjacent Properties:  There should not be a significant impact on the adjacent properties as this location has supported a car sale & repair facility for decades.  This location has not caused problems for the surrounding businesses or ne...
	Currently the patron/employee parking lot on the northern portion of 7480 Hazel Avenue is only partially screened from the adjacent residential property at 7478 Hazel Avenue.  The Conditional Use Permit will require either the existing fence be extend...
	4. Lighting:  A common complaint of car sales is excessive lighting.  Therefore, the conditional use ordinance will require lighting be maintained so that the effects of direct lighting or glare onto adjacent properties shall be prohibited.
	5. Auto Repair Restrictions:  A common complaint of auto repair facilities is vehicle repairs and storage of parts outside of the service bay areas.  Therefore, the conditional use ordinance will require that all auto repairs must be performed within ...
	1) The scale and intensity for the proposed uses should be compatible with adjacent and surrounding properties.
	2) The site has supported a car sale & repair facility for decades.
	3) Parking is available to support employee/patron parking demand for the proposed businesses.
	4) An enclosed vehicle storage yard is provided for automobiles under repair.
	5) The proposed conditional use, at the above location, will contribute to and promote the welfare and convenience of the public by providing an auto sales & repair facility for the community and surrounding area.

	20b _ VR Wholesale Auto Sales illustrations
	21 _ VR Wholesale Auto Sales and Repair 2804 Big Bend Ordinance
	22 _ CM Report 2-13-2024
	23 _ Social Services End of Year report
	24 _ MEMO_Ripple Glass



